FRIDAY



D36 29/09/2023 #.

COMPANIES HOUSE

Contents

	Pages
Strategic Report	2 - 13
Directors' Report	14 - 16
Independent Auditor's Report	17 - 19
Consolidated Income Statement	20
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income	21
Consolidated Balance Sheet	22 - 23
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity	24
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement	25 - 26
Accounting Policies	27 - 47
Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements	48 - 82
Company Financial Statements	83 - 90

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

The Directors present their Strategic Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 for Innovation Group Holdings Limited ('the Company') and its subsidiaries (together 'the Group'). The comparative period is the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Directors, in preparing this Strategic Report, have complied with s414C (11) of the Companies Act 2006.

On 12 January 2023 the Group was acquired by Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l., the digital investments arm of the Allianz Group. This acquisition will provide the Group with the support to accelerate the investment in its technology and global services capabilities. As a result, the Group's existing debt was repaid in full, all security released and replaced with unsecured promissory notes issued to Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. totalling £206.3m.

On 12 April 2022 the Group acquired the Warwick Partnership Limited, a provider of loss adjusting services. Consideration of £0.6m was paid on completion, a further £0.6m is due on 12 April 2023 and up to £0.6m is payable in April 27024 dependant on the performance of the business.

The Directors have reviewed the cash flow forecasts for the Group and the terms of its new structure. In addition, the Directors have received confirmation that Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l intends to support the Group for at least one year from the date of signing these financial statements. The Directors have therefore concluded that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements. As such the Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

The financial statements of the Company are also prepared on the going concern basis and further details are provided in note 1 to the Company Financial Statements on page 83.

Principal activities

The Group manages critical incidents in the car and home on behalf of the world's leading insurers, brokers and fleet managers, together with warranty and service plan provision for many automotive manufacturers and automotive dealerships and provides specialist software to the insurance industry. The Group has a world-class supplier network, sophisticated technology platforms and over 2,200 employees across Europe, United States of America, Africa and Australia serving over 1,200 clients, including 15 of the top 20 global general insurers and three of the top five fleet and lease management companies.

Strategy and objectives

The Group aims to be the leading provider of business services solutions to global motor and property insurers, fleet owners, lease management companies and car manufacturers. The Board believes that the Group is well positioned to continue to develop its business through three key strategic objectives:

- Growth through technology optimisation and innovation
- Key account strategy to drive transformational growth
- Growth through delivery excellence

Growth through technology optimisation and innovation

During the year the Group has continued to make substantial progress in developing its global technology platform: Gateway, which has a common core and is being developed to meet the requirements of each of the Group's business streams. The Gateway platform will provide a fully digital claims process for the customer and all the relevant stakeholders. The new platform is a sector leading application which will radically overhaul the customer experience and quality of service as well as deliver substantial operational efficiencies for both the Group and its customers.

At December 2022 65% of Germany's motor claims volume was being processed on Gateway. Once the implementation is completed in Germany the Group will continue to develop and implement the platform for other motor businesses and the Group's service plan and warranty business. During 2022 the Group invested a further £10.7m, mainly on developing the Gateway platform.

Key account strategy to drive transformational growth

The Group has an established position and scale with its large customers across multiple territories and holds strong positions across the majority of the key markets it serves. The Group's diversified global operations create a significant opportunity for growth across a number of its product offerings. The Board believes that the Group is therefore uniquely positioned to benefit from the significant opportunities available in a market where the outsourcing market is growing. A key account strategy has been developed to drive transformational growth through fully leveraging the Group's global presence targeting multiple territory deals with key existing and new global clients.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

Growth through delivery excellence

The Board believes there is a substantial opportunity to drive efficiency across the Group through a focus on best in class operations and processes allied with the Gateway platform. The Group has the potential to leverage significant growth through standardising its highest-performance operations across the whole Group, driving delivery excellence to existing customers and facilitating better integration of future clients and acquisitions.

The business model

The Group generates revenues in the following ways:

- 1. Transaction fees, where it receives a fee per claim or commission for handling motor and property claims on behalf of its clients:
- 2. Sale of goods, where it sells motor parts and paint for use within the supply chain and attract a margin either as agent or principal; and;
- 3. Provision of service, maintenance and warranty plans to the motor industry, where it generates fees and uses 'risk and reward' models to deliver quality service and generate revenue.

As the Group acts under delegated authority from its clients, typically, only the fee for handling the claim is recognised, rather than the gross claims cost itself. For certain business lines, for example in the sale of parts in the Group's German motor business and on-risk service and maintenance plans in South Africa, the Group recognises revenue gross.

Covid 19

The Group continues to adjust to the 'new normal' motor volume trends following the Covid 19 pandemic, with the most significant impact continuing to be seen in the UK and German motor markets.

The impact from Covid 19 on the global supply chains which provide spare parts for bodyshops continued through 2022, exasperated by the war in Ukraine and its subsequent effects at a macroeconomic level.

The Group's global property businesses continue to be largely unaffected by the Covid pandemic.

Market environment and outlook

The Group serves two principal vertical markets – insurance and automotive – with the insurance segment having the greatest scale and broadest geographic distribution.

The markets have attractive underlying drivers of growth, including the ongoing shift to outsourcing. Although a competitive market, the Group is well placed to benefit from these ongoing trends.

In assessing the opportunity for the Group's business, an analysis has been undertaken to determine the key strategic factors faced by clients. For insurance, these have been identified as:

The technology challenge – in particular, a need to keep pace with customer expectations regarding the digital agenda.

- Pressure on insurance rates borne out of an increasingly commoditised market and aggressive competition.
- Customer churn exacerbated by the ease of price comparison and lack of customer loyalty.
- Focus on cost reduction with a particular emphasis on claims cost and benefits of a managed network of repairs/contractors
- Market transformation the realisation that both the customer engagement model and the nature of the insurance product itself are being transformed by market disruption (e.g. new entrants from a non-insurance heritage and developments such as the connected home and car).
- Regulation including General Data Protection Regulation ensuring compliance and control over client data.

Some insurers are also questioning whether they should be full-service organisations, with control over the entire customer lifecycle, or whether they should consider certain aspects of their current business model to be non-core. This presents opportunity to organisations like Innovation Group through improved customer service, cost reduction and leading technology.

There is also an opportunity to change the operating model from one which manages a claim on a transactional basis, as is currently the case, to be the manager of the claims process itself. This would entail a much more fundamental outsourcing relationship with the insurer and is more likely to be positively received initially amongst the smaller insurers.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

In the automotive segment, and in addition to an engagement with fleet operators around the world, the Group provides a comprehensive range of value-added products to automotive manufacturers and dealership groups. This includes the provision of service plans (whereby vehicle servicing costs are built into an inclusive monthly payment plan) and warranties which are fully administered on a white label basis by the Group.

These solutions are marketed by the automotive manufacturers and dealership groups as critical enablers of customer retention and equally serve as an opportunity to up-sell to new and existing customers.

The increasing importance of technology is becoming much more pre-eminent and the Group can see an opportunity to not only use its new technology platform with its current customer base but to extend its use to customers who are only seeking a technology solution.

In summary, the Board believes that the Group is strongly positioned to take advantage of a set of market dynamics which present significant opportunity for growth.

Risk management

The Group operates a centrally managed risk system that provides a clear structure for managing risk across the Group and ensures significant risks are understood and visible to senior management, as well as to the Board. The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group's risk management process and reviews its effectiveness at least annually. However, on a day-to-day basis, senior management is responsible for providing visible leadership in the management of risk, integrating it into everything we do and all-important decisions we take.

Key risks and uncertainties

It is recognised that the Group at any point in time is exposed to several risks including financial and non-financial risks (the Group's detailed financial risk management is provided in note 29). The following table details the most significant risks as identified by the Board together with the relevant mitigation. It should be noted that any system of risk management and internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Strategic Report

Identified risk	Potential impact	Mitigation
Failure to retain a competitive advantage		
The Group's Business Services business has relatively low barriers to entry. Product offerings and service levels must be continually improved through process and technology to avoid competition being based solely on price.	If the Group is unable to maintain competitive advantage, its ability to gain and maintain market share will be impaired.	The Group has invested substantially in new technology to achieve a competitive edge. It also continually reviews its product quality against the competition in the market. The Group continues to invest in developing or acquiring 'point' solutions in both its Motor and Property divisions which will improve processes and give better efficiencies in the claims value chain.
Failure to implement Gateway		
The Group's business plans are heavily reliant on its ability to deliver significant process improvements, improved customer outcomes and cost savings through the implementation of Gateway. There is a risk that this may take longer than anticipated, or that Gateway may fail to deliver the benefits assumed.	Failure to deliver process improvements, customer outcomes and cost savings planned could result in a materially adverse effect on the Group's ability to deliver planned financial results to shareholders.	The Group continues to invest in key leadership positions to lead the various business transformation initiatives and technology implementation programmes. Regional implementation teams ensure connection with local business processes. Progress against project plans is reviewed regularly to ensure the identified outcomes will be delivered.
Dependence on key clients and suppliers		
The Group's revenues depend in part on maintaining technology and Business Services agreements with key insurance industry clients. There is a risk that key customers might cancel material contracts or decide to take technology or Business Services in-house. The Group relies on its relationships with its supplier networks. There is a risk that these key suppliers do not cost effectively satisfy their obligations to the Group.	The loss of key customer contracts could result in a materially adverse effect on the Group's ability to deliver planned financial results to shareholders. A significant failure of delivery by the Group's supplier networks could result in damage to the Group's reputation and client relationships as well as adversely impacting on the results of operations.	The Group continues to monitor its performance and service offerings to ensure the delivery of real value to its customers. Supplier networks are continually managed to ensure the efficiency and cost effectiveness of these operations for the Group's customers. The Group continues to invest in product offerings to ensure the Innovation Insurer product suite remains technologically competitive. Its product and road map are regularly validated by industry analysts and insurance consultants.
Revenue may be significantly affected by weather conditions		
Most of the Group's Business Services revenue is derived from handling motor or property claims. It is therefore exposed to the risk of significant claims fluctuations due to extreme or abnormal weather conditions. Climate change may make extreme weather conditions more frequent.	In order to become and remain a go-to partner for the customer base in its chosen target markets, the Group must be able to respond in an agile manner to changes in claims volumes which are triggered by changes in climatic conditions. Inability to prove this capability will reduce the Group's ability to grow market share and/ or reduce its market share, impacting future revenue growth and hence reduce the potential to provide returns to its shareholders.	Part of the Group's business model is to be able to serve customers in their times of need. Therefore, it must be able to respond quickly to changes in required capacity. The Group monitors its ability to respond quickly and handle changes in volumes whilst still maintaining high levels of customer service. With tested surge plans in place, the Group is able to demonstrate to its customers that it can cope with additional volumes.

Strategic Report

Identified risk	Detectiol immed	Mitigation
Servicing debt and meeting banking covenants	Potential impact	mitigation
At 31 December 2022, the Group had debt of £205.2m excluding other loans (2021: £181.5m excluding other loans) There is a risk of the Group failing to meet interest payments as they fall due or breaching covenants if the expected financial performance of the Group is not met.	Failure to meet interest payments as they fall due or breach of covenants would result in additional costs on the business if facilities are renegotiated or could result in the removal of the facilities and a threat to the going concern of the business.	The results of the Group are reviewed on a monthly basis and are re-forecast quarterly. The cash flows of the Group are reviewed on a continuous basis and are re-forecast weekly. These reviews enable the Group to assess its ability to service the debt, including meeting future covenant tests on a forward-looking basis. On 12 January 2023 the existing debt was repaid in full, all security released and replaced with unsecured promissory notes issued to Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. totalling £206.3m.
Global economy The Group's businesses rely on	Reduced economic activity	The Group performed well through Covid 19
economic activity in each region. Governments in each region respond to the challenges faced and have a direct impact on the activities in their	affects the Group's ability to undertake normal business operations and negatively impacts business operations.	and has adapted ways of working to continue to service clients and protect employees throughout.
economies. The impact of Covid 19 and more recently the war in Ukraine, and subsequent effects on supply chains, inflation, interest rates and labour	There are indirect risks to disruption in supply chain for parts and materials which may slow repairs and therefore	High inflation in some of our territories has where possible been mitigated through price rises being passed onto clients, but this is dependent on contract terms and

This is not an exhaustive list and other factors may impact the Group.

Key Performance Indicators ("KPIs")

markets directly affects the operations of

the Group.

The Group uses a range of financial and non-financial performance indicators to monitor the business. The financial KPIs set out in the following table are fundamental to the Group's business and are the measures that inform the management team of the progress in achieving the Group's business plans, strategic aims and objectives.

business volumes. High inflation

increases costs, in particular

energy and labour.

negotiations. The Group's costs are

initiatives applied where feasible.

continually monitored and cost saving

£'m	12 months to 31 December : 2022	
Revenue	200	180
EBITDA	22	17
Operating cash flow	3	(3)

Strategic Report

Certain of these KPIs also form the basis of senior management reward, therefore ensuring that this is aligned with shareholder value creation. The Group's performance against these KPIs is referred to as part of the following financial review.

The Group also has several operational KPIs that are used to manage the business on a day by day basis, many of which are woven into service level agreements within customer contracts. Examples of these include:

- Claims volumes;
- Number of claims closed within a time period;
- Average settlement value per claim;
- Size of sales pipeline and number of new wins;
- Customer satisfaction; and
- Utilisation of staff.

It is considered impractical to separately report on these operational KPIs within the Group's Annual Report and Financial Statements because although the KPI measurement may be the same, the targets will vary by region, driven predominantly by individual contractual service level requirements.

The financial KPIs noted above are linked to the operational KPIs in a manner which means that tracking the financial KPIs is a reasonable proxy for some of these operational KPIs. For instance, transactional revenue is driven by the number of claims handled in a period.

These KPIs are relevant to the strategic goals as stated on the following bases:

Relevance of KPIs to how the Group will achieve its strategic goal
The Group continually assesses its sales pipeline in order to ensure that it has enough opportunities to support its growth targets.
Sales growth is measured by the ability to increase revenue. The Group measures and reports revenue growth as a KPI.
On a day to day basis, the Group's operations measure customer and client satisfaction as part of agreed service level agreements.
If the Group fails to provide excellent service, it runs the risk of the loss of clients or a reduction in the volume of claims that it is asked to handle, thereby impacting revenue growth, profitability and generation of cash.
The Group's technology underpins its service delivery to customers and drives the efficiency of its operations.
If the Group fails to invest in technology, it may lose its competitive advantage and run the risk of losing clients thereby impacting revenue growth, profitability and generation of cash.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

Review of the business

Overall Group performance

Revenue from continuing operations (KPI)

£'m	12 months to 31 December 2022	
UK	58	50
Central Europe	84	75
Spain	2	1
South Africa	41	41
Asia Pacific	5	5
North America	9	5
Software (1)	1	3
Group Revenue	200	180

⁽¹⁾ Includes revenue from multiple geographic locations.

Group revenue for the year to 31 December 2022 was £200m (2021: £180m). The results for 2022 continue to be somewhat affected by the aftermath of Covid 19 and its ongoing trends, with claims volumes in the Motor business remaining below prepandemic levels.

Central Europe is the Group's largest business and grew impressively year on year. Its motor volumes continued to recover, supported by new business from a number of well known insurers and growth in the fleet business. The UK business benefited from higher volumes in its property subsidence business. South Africa partially recovered from the loss of a large customer in 2021 through a number of new client wins and growth from existing clients. In the US, revenue was affected by slow growth with its key customers in the motor business, but did grow significantly when compared to 2021.

(Loss)/Profit before tax and EBITDA (KPI)

£'m (Loss)/Profit before tax from continuing operations	12 months to 31 December 2022 (22.2)	31 December 2021
Adjusted to remove: Exceptional items	11.5	9.8
Net interest	12.3	(49.3)
Amortisation	16.4	14.3
Depreciation	3.9	5.2
EBITDA	21.9	17.0

(Registration number 11838883)

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

The reconciliation of statutory loss before tax to EBITDA is provided in the table above. The business in Germany (Central Europe) has been stable and the largest generator of EBITDA in the Group. The UK has benefited from additional revenue in its subsidence claims business. South Africa suffered from loss of a contract in March 2021, which has continued to affect EBITDA. New business ramp up in the US has been slower than anticipated.

As described above, the aftermath of Covid -19 continued to affect volumes in the motor business and subsequent revenues and EBITDA. However, the Group did receive a related one-off payment of £1.0m in respect of its Business Interruption Insurance.

The exceptional items of £11.5m (2021: £9.8m) included (further details in note 4):

- Legal fees £0.2m (2021: £0.6m)
- Software related expenses £2.9m (2021: £3.7m)
- Refinancing £nil (2021: £3.0m)
- Restructuring costs £2.9m (2021: £1.2m)
- Transaction costs £4.0m (2021: £nil)
- Provisions released of £0.2m (2021: £0.7m incurred)
- Impairments of £1.5m (2021: £0.6m)

The impairment of goodwill and intangibles is described further in note 11 and tangibles in note 12.

The net interest expense of £12.3m included £14.0m of interest expense related to the Group's debt (2021: £49.3m gain included £56.7m net interest income related to the release of senior debt). The resulting loss after tax from continuing operations was £24.3m (2021: £37.4m profit).

Net cash flow generated from/(used in) operating activities

12 months to 31 December 2022 2021 3 (3)

Net cash flow used in operating activities

Cash flow for the year was mainly affected by strict working capital management and an improved result for the year in comparison to 2021.

The Group has continued with its investment in transformation with £2.9m (2021: £1.2m) of restructuring and implementation expenditure.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

Statement of financial position 31 December 31 December £'m 2022 2021 Intangible fixed assets 155 153 Langible fixed assets 11 16 Other non-current assets and liabilities (excluding debt) (21)(12)Current assets (excluding cash) 67 59 Current liabilities (excluding debt) (98)(109)Cash 52 65 Total debt and lease liabilities (213)(192)Non-controlling interests (5) (5) Shareholders' equity (25)(52)

The Group has £184,175 (2021:£174,970) of equity including share premium and is substantially funded by debt.

Capital structure

At 31 December 2022 the Group had debt, excluding lease liabilities and other loans, totalling £205.2m (2021: £181.5m) which comprised senior debt of £182.5m less £0.7m unamortised issue costs (2021: £161.0m), and £23.4m priority debt (2021: £20.5m).

On 12 January 2023 the Group was acquired by Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l.. As a result, the Group's existing debt was repaid in full, all security released and replaced with unsecured promissory notes issued to Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. totalling £206.3m.

2022	Undrawn	Drawn	Interest capitalised	31 December 2022	Fixed rate	Floating rate
	£'m	£'m	£'m	£'m	%	%
Senior debt (EUR)	-	115.1	13.3	128.4	- %	7.855%
Priority debt (GBP)	-	20.0	3.4	23.4	%	13.461%
Senior debt (GBP)	-	47.9	6.2	54.1	- %	9.461%
Unamortised issue costs	-	-	(0.7)	(0.7)	- %	- %
	-	183.0	22.2	205.2	-	-

In addition, the Group has Lease liabilities under IFRS 16 of £8.3m (2021: £10.3m). The Group's borrowing facilities are detailed in note 21.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

Impacts on society and the environment

The Group recognises that it must act in a responsible and ethical manner which respects the societies in which it operates. The Group has developed and implemented relevant policies, procedures and training to ensure that it protects these communities. It also runs a number of charitable giving and community programmes across the Group and has established objectives to support local communities through its Sustainability Strategy.

Acting with integrity is one of the Group's core values and is central to everything it does as a Group. Fraud, bribery and corruption are not only illegal but also represent a significant reputational and financial risk. The Group's policy is to conduct business in an honest way, and without the use of corrupt practices or acts of bribery to obtain an unfair advantage. Its Anti-Bribery policy is available to employees on the intranet and mandatory Anti-Bribery and Corruption training has been rolled out globally.

The Group's business principles concerning all human rights issues e.g. discrimination, child labour and forced labour are documented in the Group Code of Business Conduct available to employees on the intranet.

The Group considers that its business poses relatively low risk to the environment and societies in which it operates. Some specialist divisions within the UK business do present a slightly higher risk as the Group owns elements of the supply chain (e.g. arboriculture, ground works and drainage services) that have a higher direct impact on the environment. However, in the UK business, and Stuttgart office in Germany, the Group has Environmental Management Systems in place to understand, evaluate and minimise the impact on the environment.

The Group aims to comply with all applicable environmental legislation and other requirements, to prevent pollution and to continually improve its performance globally.

Statement of corporate governance (Section 172(1)) statement)

The Company is aware of its obligations under The Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies (2018).

The Group operates a Code of Business Conduct and Conflicts of Interest policies ("the COBC"). The COBC is its frame of reference ensuring the highest standards of business ethics and professional conduct are employed by its workforce when making business decisions and resolving issues. All members of the workforce are required to undergo continuous training on the COBC.

Stakeholder engagement

Employees

The Group employs over 2,200 people in 7 countries, all of whom contribute to the success of the business. The Group's employment policies meet the requirements of the local jurisdictions that it operates in. It does not discriminate on any basis and encourages employees to speak out if they believe something is wrong. The Group operates a whistleblowing telephone hotline and a web-based reporting whistleblowing service. It respects the rights of employees and ensure that all are given a fair wage, that all have the right to organise and that none shall be subject to any form of discrimination whilst in employment with the Group.

Following the Covid 19 Pandemic, the Group (Directors) took actions to mitigate the potential impact on its business and stakeholders e.g. Employees, customers, suppliers and wider community. The Group continued to adapt to the changing environment with a flexible mix of home and office working while continuing to provide a first class service to its customers.

The Group maintains close communication with its employees, keeping them abreast of Group performance and decisions and gauging feedback on their thoughts and opinions. These communications take on many forms; "pulse" surveys in Australia, South Africa and Germany, workers council meetings in Spain and Employee Resources Groups in North America. The surveys allow subsidiaries to track employee satisfaction, including their health and well-being. In 2022 our German business subscribed to "Great Place to Work" which involves an annual employee survey, recommendations and benchmarks the business against other businesses in the sector. We are proud to say that they are now officially rated as a "Great Place to Work" employer and a "Great Place to Start" for their trainee program.

During 2022 the UK also created a work from home project group, to focus on the change within the working conditions and to address the most recent market trends and demands. Amongst other deliverables, this saw us create a Manager Toolkit for different stages of the employee lifecycle, to ensure that our managers are equipped for the needs of these new ways of working.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

During the year the Group issued 500 remaining shares to the trust for the benefit of 16 of its employees. Refer to note 21 of the Financial Statements.

Clients

Great customer service is and will always be important to the Group with the aim of ensuring clients and in turn their customers have the best possible experience when engaging with employees.

The ability of the Group to provide relevant and accurate industry insights is well known and appreciated by suppliers and clients alike across all regions. Understanding what is happening within the industry and reacting to a changing landscape for the benefit of all parties is appreciated across the supply chain.

Across all sectors and countries, the move away from in person meetings and work has had a big impact. The workforce continues to leverage video technologies to keep in touch with the Group's customers and each other as well as carry out vehicle assessments.

Trade shows and membership of trade bodies are key to providing access to both current and potential customers and suppliers. As trade shows reopened in 2021 the Group has continued to actively participate in both live and online events increasing direct contact with customers.

Suppliers

The Group's network of suppliers are both large chains and smaller individual suppliers and it has been important to keep in touch with the whole supply chain as in some markets Covid 19 supply interruptions continue to be encountered, alongside increased time taken to complete repairs and, more recently, spiralling energy costs. Together, we have been able to agree various measures to ease pressure on the repairers struggling due to the exceptional market conditions such as help with extra disinfection costs or courtesy car costs when repairs are delayed due to global supply chain problems. In Germany, our repair network has now fully adopted our Gateway digital platform and are enjoying a new level of transparency and faster processes as a result.

Shareholders

The Group aims to build supportive working relationships with Shareholders (who are also Lenders) and communicates progress and strategy via update presentations and other meetings as required. Where trading businesses have minority shareholders (for example in South Africa) the Group promotes active engagement with regular board meetings.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting (SECR) information

The information provided below is in respect of the Group's UK operations only

		Unit	12 months to 1 31 December 3 2022		
Scope 1	Direct emissions – from gas and owned/managed vehicles	tCO2e	610	457	428
Scope 2	Indirect emissions	tCO2e	231	609	964
Scope 3	Total - Scope 1 & 2 Transmission and Distribution of UK national grid electricity and Business travel	tCO2e tCO2e	841 21	1,066 113	1,392 131
	Total Scope 1, 2 & 3	tCO2e	862	1,179	1,523
UK	UK Turnover Scope 1 & 2 – Total tCO2e per £m Turnover on gross scope 1 & 2	£'m tCO2e per £'m	57.90 14.53	52.40 20.36	51.40 27.10
	Scope 1, 2 & 3 – Total tCO2e per £m Turnover on gross scope 1, 2 & 3	tCO2e per £'m	14.89	22.52	29.66

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Strategic Report

Methodology

The Group's UK business has adopted an operational control approach to establishing the boundary. The methodology adopted is in line with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol and the BEIS Environmental Reporting Guidelines.

For National grid electricity consumption, the UK business has included factors for the transmission and distribution of electricity (T&D) losses, which occur between the power station and site(s). The emissions from T&D have been accounted for in Scope 3. As with other Scope 3 impacts, reporting T&D is voluntary but is recommended standard practice by the UK Government.

It has been necessary to make some assumptions in respect of travel by air (based on historical travel patterns of employees) and rail (based on travel destinations of other trips of similar value) in some cases where the full detail was not available.

Energy efficiency measures

Energy efficiency measures taken

A data centre in UK was closed at the end of 2021, reducing the 2022 consumption of large amounts of electricity to run servers and associated A/C and UPSs equipment.

Following the Covid pandemic the majority of our UK employees are still working from home, reducing the amount of energy directly consumed for business travel.

The UK's Motor repairer programme is focussed on improving impact on the environment. Over a third of our repairer partners have received the PAS2060 Carbon Neutral standard, with more of our repairer supply chain in line to be awarded this standard in the coming year. This means that just over a third of the repair volume now flows through accredited businesses. IG UK Motor business also continued entirely virtual audit and meeting programme, which will cut down on our own travel times, supporting our green credentials.

Energy efficiency planned

In 2022 we signed up to the Science Based Targets Initiative. This is formal commitment to setting carbon reduction targets in the next two years. As we move forward into 2023 and 2024, we will be able to incorporate these targets into our longer term CSR strategy.

Diversity

We recognise the value of a diverse workforce and look to offer equal opportunities to everyone. There is a good gender balance across the Group, but women are underrepresented at senior levels. We expect that our talent, development and recruitment programmes will help to address this imbalance. Totals as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are set out below.

Number	2022 M en	2022 Women	2021 M en	2021 Women
Board	5	-	5	-
Senior management	21	13	21	12
Other employee	1,133	1.164	1,070	1,137

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

27 September 2023

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Directors' Report

The Directors present the annual report and the audited consolidated accounts ("financial statements") for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Directors and their interests

The Directors of the company who were in office during the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements unless otherwise stated were:

- Tim Griffiths
- Jose Castelo Marin (resigned 30 November 2022)
- Alasdair Marnoch (resigned 31 December 2022)
- Andries Van Staden (appointed 10 January 2023)
- Gerard Loftus (resigned 12 January 2023)
- Jaime Prieto (resigned 12 January 2023)
- Royston Hoggarth (resigned 12 January 2023)
- Marc Berg (appointed 12 January 2023, resigned 28 February 2023)
- Karl Emde (appointed 12 January 2023)
- Friedrich Riddermann (appointed 28 February 2023, resigned 1 September 2023)
- Stephan Koeck (appointed 1 April 2023)

Board composition

Tim Griffiths and Alasdair Marnoch held Executive roles in the business during the year as CEO and CFO respectively. Andries Van Staden succeeded Alasdair Marnoch as CFO following his resignation on 31 December 2022.

Directors' liabilities

The Company has granted an indemnity to its Directors against all liability in respect of proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in respect of alleged negligence, default, breach of duty, breach of trust or otherwise in which judgement is given in a Director's favour or in which such Director is acquitted or in defending or settling any such proceedings which are otherwise disposed of on terms previously agreed with the Board or on terms otherwise approved by the Board without a finding or admission of negligence, default, breach of duty or breach of trust on the Director's part brought by third parties, subject to the conditions set out in s234 of the Companies Act 2006. Such qualifying third-party indemnity provision was in force throughout the year and remains in force as at the date of approving the Directors' report.

Disabled Employees

The Group is committed to a policy of recruitment and promotion on the basis of aptitude and ability without discrimination. The Group considers applications for employment from disabled persons where the requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by a handicapped or disabled person. Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group's policy wherever practicable to provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career development and promotion to disabled employees wherever appropriate.

Accounting Period

Both the current and comparative years' results are for the 12 months to 31 December.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Directors' Report

Dividends

The Directors do not propose a final dividend for the period (2021: £nil).

Dividends paid by subsidiary undertakings to non-controlling interests in the period amounted to £1.0m (2021: £0.5m). See note 9 for further details.

Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the cash flow forecasts for the Group and the terms of its new structure. In addition, the Directors have received confirmation that Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.I intends to support the Group for at least one year from the date of signing these financial statements. The Directors have therefore concluded that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements. As such the Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Research and development

As noted in the Strategic Report the Group continues to invest in its technology platforms to improve service delivery to customers and to bring new product offerings to market. A key part of the Group's strategy is to roll out an integrated global platform for motor/fleet/property repair management and this has been an area of focus in the current period.

Political donations

The Group made no political donations in the period (2021: £nil).

Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with UK adopted International accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and Company financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland", and applicable law).

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- state whether applicable UK adopted international accounting standards have been followed for the Group financial statements and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102, have been followed for the Company financial statements, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and Company will continue in business.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and parent company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

Disclosure of information to the auditors

In the case of each Director in office at the date the Directors' Report is approved:

- so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group and Company's auditors are unaware: and
- they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group and Company's auditors are aware of that information.

Directors' Report

Independent Auditors

In accordance with s485 of the Companies Act 2006, a resolution to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors will be put to the members at the Annual General Meeting.

The Group has chosen in accordance with section 414C(11) to set out within the Strategic Report or the financial statements the following information, that would otherwise have been required to be included within the Directors' Report:

- Stakeholder engagement; and
- Future developments; and
- Financial risk objectives; and
- Streamlined energy and carbon reporting (SECR) Information.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

Andries Van Staden

Executive

27 September 2023

The Company's registration number is 11838883

Independent auditors' report to the members of Innovation Group Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion:

- Innovation Group Holdings Limited's group financial statements and company financial statements (the "financial statements") give a true
 and fair view of the state of the group's and of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2022 and of the group's loss and the group's
 cash flows for the year then ended:
- the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards as applied
 in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006;
- the company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland", and applicable law); and
- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements (the "Annual Report"), which comprise: the Consolidated Balance Sheet and Company Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022; the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statement of Changes in Equity and Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directors' Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic report and Directors' Report

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors' Report for the year ended 31 December 2022 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic report and Directors' Report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' responsibilities in respect of the Annual Report and Financial Statements, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related to General Data Protection Regulations (GDPR) and tax legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as the Companies Act 2006. We evaluated management's incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting of inappropriate

journal entries to manipulate revenue and/or EBITDA and management bias in significant accounting estimates and judgements. Audit procedures performed by the engagement team included:

- Discussions with management, internal legal counsel, and the Audit Committee throughout the year and since the year end, including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws and regulation or fraud;
- Reviewing minutes of meetings of those charged with governance to identify any instances of non-compliance that have been discussed;
- Identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations or posted by senior management;
- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates and judgements;
- Incorporating elements of unpredictability into the audit procedures performed;
- Reviewing the financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors' report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

- · we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us: or
- · certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
- the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Christopher Boreham (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

Southampton

28 September 2023

Consolidated Income Statement

	Note	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Revenue	3	200,294	180,214
Cost of sales		(135,766)	(117,934)
Gross profit	-	64,528	62,280
Exceptional items Administrative expenses excluding exceptional items	4	(11,506) (65,656)	(9,771) (65,668)
Total administrative expenses	-	(77,162)	(75,439)
Operating loss	5	(12,634)	(13,159)
Finance income	6	1,323	174,003
Finance costs	7	(13,583)	(124,751)
Income from financial assets	14	2,669	910
(Loss) / profit before tax	-	(22,225)	37,003
Total tax (charge) / credit	8	(2,062)	357
(Loss) / profit for the year		(24,287)	37,360
(Loss) / profit attributable to:			
Equity holders of the parent:			
From continuing operations		(25,483)	36,135
Non-controlling interests:			
From continuing operations	13	1,196	1,225

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

	Note	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
(Loss) / profit for the year		(24,287)	37,360
Other comprehensive (expense)/income			
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:			
Foreign currency translation differences		(2,040)	(1,162)
Other comprehensive income for the year net of taxation		(2,040)	(1,162)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income		(26,327)	36,198
Total comprehensive income attributable to:			
Equity holders of the parent		(27,720)	35,301
Non-controlling interests		1,393	897
		(26,327)	36,198

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022

	Note	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Assets			
Non-Current Assets			
Property, plant and equipment	10	10,515	15,828
Goodwill	11	63,160	58,761
Intangible assets (excluding goodwill)	12	92,009	94,340
Financial assets	14	1 1,749	7,807
Trade and other receivables	16	127	56
Finance lease receivables	17	209	394
Deferred tax asset	15	1,241	755
		179,010	177,941
Current Assets			
Trade and other receivables	16	63,897	55,357
Finance lease receivables	17	207	235
Prepayments		1,857	2,714
Income tax receivable		284	162
Cash and cash equivalents	18	52,293	64,850
	_	118,538	123,318
Total Assets	-	297,548	301,259

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022 (continued)

	Note	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Equity and Liabilities			
Equity			
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of Parent			
Share capital and share premium	19	184	175
Other Reserves	20&21	(2,733)	(553)
Accumulated loss		(49.737)	(24,254)
Total equity attributable to the parent	_	(52,286)	(24,632)
Non-controlling interest	13	4,917	4,574
Total equity	_	(47,369)	(20,058)
Liabilities	_		
Non-Current Liabilities			
Interest bearing loans and borrowings	22	211,891	189,707
Contract Liabilities	24	24,255	12,378
Deferred tax liabilities	15	7,356	7,787
Provisions	25	2,046	593
Other liability	26	97	379
		245,645	210,844
Current Liabilities			
Trade and other payables	26	72,588	67,397
Interest bearing loans and borrowings	22	1,660	2,621
Contract Liabilities	24	19.694	35,704
Current tax payable		2,234	1,584
Provisions	25	3,096	3,167
		99,272	110 ,473
Total Liabilities		344,917	321,317
Total Equity and Liabilities	-	297,548	301,259

The annual report and financial statements on pages 20 to 82 were approved by the Board on 27 September 2023 and were signed on its behalf by

Andries Van Staden, Chief Financial Officer

27 September 2023

The Company's registration number is 11838883

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

	Share	Share	Foreign currency	Equity settled	Accumulated losses	Tota attributable to equity	Non-controlling interest	Total
	capital	premium		share-based		holders of the group /	ົ້ ບບບ, ສ	equity
	000, 3	€ ,000	3,000	payments	000, 3	company £ '000	000	
				£ '000				3 ,000
Balance at 01 January 2021	•	•	239	•	(60,389)	(60,150)	4,189	(55,961)
Profit for the period	,	1	•		36.135	36,135	1,225	37,360
Currency translation differences	•	•	(834)	ī	•	(834)	(328)	(1,162)
Total comprehensive income for the period	•	•	(834)	1	36,135	35,301	268	36,198
Employees share option scheme. Proceeds of shares	1	175	•	1	1	175		175
issued Share based payments	•	•	ı	42	1	42	ı	42
Dividends	'	•		ı	•		(512)	(512)
Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity		175	•	42		217	(512)	(295)
Balance at 01 January 2022		175	(262)	42	(24,254)	(24,632)	4,574	(20,028)
Loss for the year	-	-	-	•	(25,483)	(25,483)	961'.	(24,287)
Currency translation differences	-	-	(2,237)	-	Þ	(2,237)	197	(2,040)
Total comprehensive Loss for the year	•	•	(2,237)	•	(25,483)	(27,720)	1,393	(26,327)
Employees share option scheme: Proceeds of shares	,	6	1	,	-	6	1	თ
issued Share based payments	•	ı	1	57	1	25	1	57
Dividends	,	1		-	-		(1,050)	(1,050)
Total contributions by and distributions to owners of company recognised directly in equity	1	6	•	57	•	99	(1,037)	(984)
Balance at 31 December 2022	•	184	(2,832)	66	(49,737)	(52,286)	4,917	(47,369)
Note	19	19	20	21				

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

	Note	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Cash flows from operating activities			
Loss from continuing operations		(12,634)	(13,159)
Group operating loss		(12,634)	(13,159)
Adjustments to reconcile Group operating loss to net cash inflows / (out	flows) from		
operating activities Depreciation of property, plant and equipment	10	3,876	5,249
Amortisation of intangible assets	12	16,432	14,273
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment	5	(87)	1,343
Foreign exchange gain	5	568	15
Impairment of intangible assets	4	504	-
Impairment of property, plant and equipment	4	1,035	572
Increase in provisions		1,382	919
Increase in receivables		(7,016)	(10,150)
Decrease in stocks		38	130
Increase in payables		5,907	3,502
Decrease in deferred income		(4,133)	(3,822)
Increase in share based payments		57	42
Cash generated from / (used in) operations		5,929	(1,086)
Income taxes paid		(2,514)	(2,271)
Net cash flow generated from / (used in) operating activities		3,415	(3,357)
Cash flows from investing activities			
Purchases of property, plant and equipment	10	(1,151)	(2,513)
Sale of property, plant and equipment	10	2,216	-
Dividend received	_	991	-
Purchases of intangible assets	12	(12,259)	(10,325)
Interest received	6	1,323	729
Proceeds from the licencing of software	20	-	-
Purchase of subsidiary undertaking	30 30	(600) 334	-
Cash acquired with subsidiary undertaking Purchase of financial assets	30	334 (1,857)	-
			(40 400)
Net cash flow used in investing activities		(11,003)	(12,109)

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (continued)

	Note	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Cash flows from financing activities			
Proceeds on share issue	19	9	175
Repayment of loans		(494)	(1,107)
New borrowings		=	24,480
Principal elements of lease payments		(2,140)	(3,799)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests	9	(619)	(512)
Interest paid		(1,015)	(785)
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities		(4,259)	18,452
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents		(11,847)	2,986
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period		64,850	64,607
Effect of exchange rate movement on cash and cash equivalents		(710)	(2,743)
Total cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	18	52,293	64,850

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

Corporate information

Innovation Group Holdings Limited ("the Company") is a private company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom, registered and domiciled in England and Wales.

The Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on and the Group and Company balance sheets were signed on the Board's behalf by Andries Van Staden. The registered office is Bembridge House, 1300 Parkway, Solent Business Park, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire, England, PO15 7AE.

1. Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

1.1. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis in accordance with, and in compliance with, UK adopted international accounting standards ('IFRS") issued and effective at the time of preparing these annual report and financial statements and the applicable requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The annual report and financial statements have been prepared on the historic cost convention with the exception of certain items which are measured at fair value as disclosed in the accounting policies below. They are presented in Pounds Sterling, which is the Group's functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand pounds (£ '000) except where otherwise stated.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous year.

The Company and its subsidiaries' accounting reference period for the prior and current year is from 1 January to 31 December.

1.2. Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the cash flow forecasts for the Group and the terms of its new structure. In addition, the Directors have received confirmation that Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.I intends to support the Group for at least one year from the date of signing these financial statements. The Directors have therefore concluded that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements. As such the Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

On 12 January 2023 the Group was acquired by Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l., the digital investments arm of the Allianz Group. This acquisition will provide the Group with the support to accelerate the investment in its technology and global services capabilities. As a result, the Group's existing debt was repaid in full, all security released and replaced with unsecured promissory notes issued to Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. totalling £206.3m.

On 12 April 2022 the Group acquired the Warwick Partnership Limited, a provider of loss adjusting services. Consideration of £0.6m was paid on completion, a further £0.6m was paid on 12 April 2023 and up to £0.6m is payable in April 2024 dependant on the performance of the business.

Based on the latest available forecasts, the Directors consider that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

1.3. Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and all subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) which are controlled by the Group.

The Group has control of an entity when it is exposed to or has rights to variable returns from involvement with the entity and it has the ability to affect those returns through use its power over the entity.

The results and cash flows of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to the effective date of disposal.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.3 Consolidation (continued)

Typically, financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

All inter-company transactions, balances, and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised separately from the Group's interest therein, and are recognised within equity, separately from the parent shareholders' equity. Losses of subsidiaries attributable to non-controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a debit balance being recognised for non-controlling interest.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions and are recognised directly in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid or received and the movement in non-controlling interest for such transactions is recognised in equity attributable to the owners of the company.

Subsidiaries are consolidated to the date of disposal and the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying value/ net asset value of the entity and the proceeds from the disposal. At that point all assets and liabilities attributable to the entity disposed of is derecognised, including any goodwill.

Investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements

In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. This excludes investments which are held for sale and are consequently accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Disposals of investments in subsidiaries are recognised at the point when control is lost and any gain or loss is calculated at this point as the difference between the carrying value of the investment and the proceeds from the sale.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as incurred (typically classified as exceptional items), except the costs to issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

The acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities which meet the recognition conditions of IFRS 3 Business combinations are recognised at their fair values at acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current assets Held For Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

Contingent liabilities are only included in the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree where there is a present obligation at acquisition date.

On acquisition, the acquiree's assets and liabilities are reassessed in terms of classification and are reclassified where the classification is inappropriate for group purposes. This excludes lease agreements and insurance contracts, whose classification remains as per their inception date.

Non-controlling interests in the acquiree are measured on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests' proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. This treatment applies to non-controlling interests which are present ownership interests, and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation. All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at their acquisition date fair values, unless another measurement basis is required by IFRS's.

(Registration number 11838883)

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.3 Consolidation (continued)

Goodwill is determined as the consideration paid, plus the fair value of any shareholding held prior to obtaining control, plus non-controlling interest and less the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree. If, in the case of a bargain purchase, the result of this formula is negative, then the difference is recognised directly in the Income Statement.

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested on an annual basis for impairment. If goodwill is assessed to be impaired, that impairment is not subsequently reversed.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the related cash-generating units ("CGUs") monitored by management, usually at operating segment level or statutory company level as the case may be. A CGU is defined as being the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets. The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to a CGU is taken into account when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the unit, or of an operation within it.

Goodwill arising on acquisition of foreign entities is considered an asset of the foreign entity. In such cases the goodwill is translated to the functional currency of the Group at the end of each reporting period with the adjustment recognised in equity through to other comprehensive income.

1.4 Financial assets

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies. It generally accompanies a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method, except when the investment is classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the Balance Sheet at cost adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group's share of net assets of the associate, less any impairment losses.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the Income Statement, and its share of movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. Losses in an associate in excess of the Group's interest in that associate, including any other unsecured receivables, are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred a legal or constructive obligation to make payments on behalf of the associate.

Any goodwill on acquisition of an associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment.

Profits or losses on transactions between the Group and an associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest therein. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

When the Group reduces its level of significant influence or loses significant influence, the Group proportionately reclassifies the related items which were previously accumulated in equity through other comprehensive income to the Income Statement as a reclassification adjustment. In such cases, if an investment remains, that investment is measured to fair value, with the fair value adjustment being recognised in the Income Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Group holds for its own use and which are expected to be used for more than one year.

An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying assets and adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where appropriate.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost can be measured reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in the Income Statement in the period in which they are incurred

Leases which adhere to the requirements of IFRS16 are capitalised as right-of-use assets and are depreciated over the shorter of the expected useful life of the asset or the lease term.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, except for land which is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is available for use as intended by management. Depreciation is charged to write off the asset's carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset's economic benefits are consumed by the Group. Leased assets are depreciated in a consistent manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale, is derecognised or becomes fully depreciated to its estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:

Item	Depreciation method	Average useful life
Freehold buildings	Straight line	50 years
Fixtures and fittings	Straight line	4 - 15 years
Motor vehicles	Straight line	4 years
Computer systems and equipment	Straight line	2 - 5 years
Property improvements	Straight line	10 - 15 years
Right-of-use assets	Straight line	Over the lease term

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in the Income Statement.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment at least annually and when there is an indicator that they may be impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income Statement to bring the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item, is included in the Income Statement when the item is derecognised.

1.6 Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains a lease, at the inception of the contract.

A contract is, or contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

In order to assess whether a contract is, or contains a lease, management determine whether the asset under consideration is "identified", which means that the asset is either explicitly or implicitly specified in the contract and that the supplier does not have a substantial right of substitution throughout the period of use. Once management has concluded that the contract deals with an identified asset, the right to control the use thereof is considered. To this end, control over the use of an identified asset only exists when the Group has the right to substantially all of the economic benefits from the use of the asset as well as the right to direct the use of the asset.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.6 Leases (continued)

In circumstances where the determination of whether the contract is or contains a lease requires significant judgement, the relevant disclosures are provided in the significant judgments and sources of estimation uncertainty section of these accounting policies.

Group as lessee

A lease liability and corresponding right-of-use asset are recognised at the lease commencement date, for all lease agreements for which the Group is a lessee, except for short-term leases of 12 months or less, or leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with consideration being allocated to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone prices of the lease components and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components (where non-lease components exist).

Lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received, and - makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

The Group has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics as a practical expedient as permitted by the standard.

The incremental borrowing rates applied range between 3% and 10% depending on the location of the leased asset. The rate applied is re-assessed at the inception of each new lease.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;

- the amount expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees; the exercise price of purchase options, if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise the option; lease payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option; and

penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability (or right-of-use asset). The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period incurred and are included in operating expenses.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

The lease liability is presented within borrowings on the Balance Sheet.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect lease payments made. Interest charged on the lease liability is included in finance costs.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.6 Leases (continued)

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) when:

- there has been a change to the lease term, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;
- there has been a change in the assessment of whether the Group will exercise a purchase, termination or extension option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
- there has been a change to the lease payments due to a change in an index or a rate, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used);
- there has been a change in expected payment under a residual value guarantee, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate;
- a lease contract has been modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised payments using a revised discount rate.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-ofuse asset, or is recognised in the Income Statement if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are presented within property, plant and equipment on the Balance Sheet. Lease payments included in the measurement of the Right-of-use asset comprise the following:

- the initial amount of the corresponding lease liability;
- any lease payments made at or before the commencement date;
- . any initial direct costs incurred;
- any estimated costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, when the Group incurs an obligation to do so, unless these costs are incurred to produce inventories: and
- less any lease incentives received.

When the Group incurs an obligation for the costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying assets to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised in the Balance Sheet.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. However, if a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. Depreciation starts at the commencement date of a lease.

For right-of-use assets which are depreciated over their useful lives, the useful lives are determined consistently with items of the same class of property, plant and equipment. Refer to the accounting policy for property, plant and equipment for details of useful lives.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. Each part of a right-of-use asset with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the asset is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in the Income Statement.

Group as lessor

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Lease classification is made at inception and is only reassessed if there is a lease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described previously, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.6 Leases (continued)

The various lease and non-lease components of contracts containing leases are accounted for separately, with consideration being allocated by applying IFRS 15.

Finance leases

Amounts due from lessees are recognised from commencement date at an amount equal to the Group net investment in the lease. They are presented as lease receivables in the Balance Sheet.

The interest rate implicit in the lease is used to measure the net investment in the lease. If the interest rate implicit in a sublease cannot be readily determined for a sublease, then the discount rate used for the head lease (adjusted for any initial direct costs associated with the sublease) is used to measure the net investment in the sublease.

The interest rate implicit in the lease is defined in a manner which causes the initial direct costs to be included in the initial measurement of the net investment in the lease.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the net investment in the lease comprise the following:

- fixed lease payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives payable;
- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date:
- the amount expected to be receivable by the Group from the lessee, a party related to the lessee or a third party unrelated to the Group under residual value guarantees (to the extent of third parties, this amount is only included if the party is financially capable of discharging the obligations under the guarantee);
- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option; penalties for early termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The Group recognises finance income over the lease term, based on a pattern that reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the lease. Finance income recognised on finance leases is included in investment income in the Income Statement.

The Group applies the impairment provisions of IFRS 9 to lease receivables. Refer to the accounting policy for trade and other receivables as lease receivables are impaired on a consistent basis with that accounting policy.

1.7 Intangible assets (excluding goodwill)

The accounting policy for goodwill is included in the consolidation policy above.

- An intangible asset is recognised when:
 it is probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity; and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business combination are initially recognised at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination is measured at fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:

- it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale; and
- there is an intention to complete and use or sell it; and there is an ability to use or sell it; and
- it will generate probable future economic benefits; and
- there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the asset; and
- the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets (excluding goodwill) are assessed to be finite. Internally generated intangible assets are amortised from the point when the asset is available for use.

(Registration number 11838883)

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.7 Intangible assets (excluding goodwill) (continued)

The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates with adjustments reflected

prospectively. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in the Income Statement in the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not recognised as intangible assets.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

ltem	Depreciation method	Average useful life
Trade names	Straight line	20 years
Proprietary software	Straight line	2 - 5 years
Customer relationships	Straight line	10 - 15 years

1.8 Impairment of assets

The Group assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the Group also:

- tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life such as goodwill or intangible assets not yet available for use for impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed during the annual period and at the same time every period.
- tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the income statement in exceptional items.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in the Income Statement. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is so allocated represents the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount of the units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:

- first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and
- then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.8 Impairment of assets (continued)

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill is recognised immediately in the Income Statement. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.9 Financial instruments

Financial instruments held by the Group are classified in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Broadly, the classification possibilities, which are adopted by the Group ,as applicable, are as follows:

- Financial assets which are equity instruments:

 Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or
 Designated as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets which are debt instruments:

- Amortised cost; or
- Fair value through other comprehensive income; or Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or Designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Derivatives which are not part of a hedging relationship:

Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities:

- Amortised cost; or Mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss; or Designated at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The specific accounting policies for the classification, recognition and measurement of each type of financial instrument held by the Group are presented below:

Trade and other receivables

Classification

Trade and other receivables, excluding, when applicable, VAT and prepayments, are classified as financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost.

They have been classified in this manner because their contractual terms give rise, on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding, and the Group's business model is to collect the contractual cash flows on trade and other receivables.

Recognition and measurement

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the receivables. They are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.9 Financial instruments (continued)

The amortised cost is the amount recognised on the receivable initially, minus principal repayments, plus cumulative amortisation (interest) using the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Impairment

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, excluding VAT and prepayments. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date.

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade and other receivables at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (lifetime ECL), which represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected life of the receivable.

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The Group makes use of a provision matrix as a practical expedient to the determination of expected credit losses on trade and other receivables. The provision matrix is based on historic credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current and forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including the time value of money, where appropriate.

The customer base is widespread and does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments. The loss allowance is calculated on a collective basis for all trade and other receivables in totality.

An impairment gain or loss is recognised in the Income Statement with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of trade and other receivables, through use of a loss allowance account. The impairment loss is included in administrative expenses excluding exceptional items in the Income Statement as a movement in credit loss allowance.

Write off policy

The Group writes off a receivable when there is information indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Receivables written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made subsequently are recognised in the Income Statement.

Non-hedging derivatives

Classification

Non-hedging derivatives are classified as mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss.

Recognition and measurement

Derivatives are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. They are measured, at initial recognition and subsequently, at fair value. Transaction costs are recognised in the Income Statement.

Fair value gains or losses are included in finance income / costs.

Borrowings

Classification

Borrowings are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

Borrowings are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the loan. The loans are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.9 Financial instruments (continued)

These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Interest expense, calculated on the effective interest method, is included in the Income Statement in finance costs. Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or sale) are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset.

Trade and other payables

Classification

Trade and other payables, excluding VAT and amounts received in advance, are classified as financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Recognition and measurement

They are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions, and are measured, at initial recognition, at fair value plus transaction costs, if any.

These are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at carrying amount which is deemed to be fair value.

Derecognition Financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the Income Statement.

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability such that the difference in the respective carrying amounts together with any costs or fees incurred are recognised in the Income Statement.

Reclassification

Financial assets

The Group only reclassifies affected financial assets if there is a change in the business model for managing financial assets. If a reclassification is necessary, it is applied prospectively from the reclassification date. Any previously stated gains, losses or interest are not restated.

The reclassification date is the beginning of the first reporting period following the change in business model which necessitates a reclassification.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are not reclassified

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.10 Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Pounds Sterling, by applying to the foreign currency amount the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:

- foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate; and
- non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
- non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

In circumstances where the Group receives or pays an amount in foreign currency in advance of a transaction, the transaction date for purposes of determining the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, income or expense is the date on which the Group initially recognised the non-monetary item arising on payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, Group determines a date of transaction for each payment or receipt of advance consideration.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous annual report and financial statements are recognised in the Income Statement in the period in which they arise.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in the Income Statement, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in the Income Statement.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Pounds Sterling by applying to the foreign currency amount the exchange rate between the Pounds Sterling and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.

Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The results and financial position of a foreign operation are translated into the functional currency using the following procedures:

- assets and liabilities for each Balance Sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that Balance
- income and expenses for each item of profit or loss are translated at average exchange rates for the period, where this represents a reasonable approximation of actual exchange rates at the date of transactions; and
- all resulting exchange differences are recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated as a separate component of equity.

Exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised initially to other comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve. They are recognised in the Income Statement as a reclassification adjustment through to other comprehensive income on disposal of net investment.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition of that foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

The cash flows of a foreign subsidiary are translated at the exchange rates between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the dates of the cash flows.

On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the Income Statement.

(Registration number 11838883)

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.11 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the Balance Sheet comprise cash at bank and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and cash equivalents, as previously defined, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the Balance Sheet. Cash and cash equivalents include amounts advanced by customers where use is restricted to handling the customer's activities.

1.12 Discontinued operations and non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

A non-current asset is not depreciated (or amortised) while it is classified as held for sale, or while it is part of a disposal group classified as such; but rather tested for impairment. Impairment losses on assets and liabilities held for sale are recognised in the Income Statement.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately in the Balance Sheet.

Interest and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are recognised in the Income Statement.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative Income Statement and Cash Flow Statement are reclassified as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.

1.13 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions are recognised when:

- the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
- it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation; and
- a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.

Provisions are not recognised for future uncontracted operating losses.

If the Group has a contract that is onerous, the present value of the expected obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured as a provision.

Contingent liabilities are liabilities that represent a possible obligation arising from a past event whose existence is dependent on one or more uncertain future events not within the control of the Group, or a present obligation where it is possible, but not probable, that an outflow will be required for settlement of the obligation. Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed unless the likelihood of the uncertain future event is remote.

In the event of a business combination, contingent liabilities are recognised seperately. After the initial recognition, the contingent liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of:
the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and

- the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Contingent assets, which relate to possible assets and depend on the outcome of uncertain future events, are not recognised. Such an asset is disclosed only where the inflow of economic benefit is probable.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.14 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset,

Current tax liabilities/ assets for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/ recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences that are considered probable to reverse in the foreseeable future, except to the extent that the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, which at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit/ loss.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences that are considered probable to reverse in the foreseeable future to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised and is reviewed at each balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities or assets are recognised on all temporary differences except in respect of investments in subsidiaries and associates where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that it will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries or associates are recognised only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in the Income Statement for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

- a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or
- a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.15 Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Dividends are recognised as a liability in the Group in the period in which they are fully authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity concerned.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.16 Share based payments

Goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction are recognised when the goods or as the services are received. A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the goods or services were received in an equitysettled share based payment transaction or a liability if the goods or services were acquired in a cash-settled share based payment transaction.

When the goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction do not qualify for recognition as assets, they are recognised as expenses.

For equity-settled share based payment transactions the goods or services received and the corresponding increase in equity are measured, directly, at the fair value of the goods or services received provided that the fair value can be estimated reliably.

If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be estimated reliably, or if the services received are employee services, their value and the corresponding increase in equity, are measured, indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.

Vesting conditions which are not market related (i.e. service conditions and non-market related performance conditions) are not taken into consideration when determining the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Instead, vesting conditions which are not market related shall be taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments included in the measurement of the transaction amount so that, ultimately, the amount recognised for goods or services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. Market conditions, such as a target share price, are taken into account when estimating the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The number of equity instruments are not adjusted to reflect equity instruments which are not expected to vest or do not vest because the market condition is not achieved.

If the share based payments granted do not vest until the counterparty completes a specified period of service, the Group accounts for those services as they are rendered by the counterparty during the vesting period, (or on a straight line basis over the vesting period).

If the share based payments vest immediately the services received are recognised in full.

As an exception, when the Group is obligated, in terms of tax legislation, to withhold an amount of employees' tax associated with an equity-settled share-based payment transaction (thus creating a net settlement feature), the full transaction is still accounted for as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction.

1.17 Revenue

The Group derives its revenues primarily from the provision of Business Services to the insurance, fleet, automotive and property industries and software and related services to the insurance sector. In the Business Services division the Group has core competencies in motor and property, particularly in the provision of administration services for first notice of loss, incident management, full claims handling, loss adjusting and service, maintenance policy and warranty administration. In addition, the Business Services division supplies motor parts into its managed network of repairers. The software division provides software to insurance companies through the sale of licences and the building and maintaining of the underlying business systems that are required to manage claims administration and policy processes.

Revenue earned by the Business Services Division

The Group receives payments either as principal or agent. This is differentiated by the extent to which the Group is at risk for the gross payment. Where the Group acts as agent for the insurer, the insurer retains complete liability for the cost of settlement of the claim. As a result, even when the Group processes claims settlement costs gross through its own balance sheet, revenue is accounted for on a net basis and comprises fees for administrative and other services. Where the Group retains the liability for the settlement of claims costs, revenue is accounted for gross. Revenues are recognised in line with the delivery of the related services or referred work including, where appropriate, an assessment of accrued income.

The majority of the Group's Business Services revenue is derived from the administration of different parts of the claims management or policy management process. This is predominantly performed for a fixed administration fee or a fixed contractual percentage of the value of any repair. All administration fees are recognised, in accordance with IFRS 15, as the performance obligation is considered to be satisfied. Certain performance obligations, such as the provision of first notice of loss services, are paid by transaction and the transactions can be satisfied over a very short period of time. Revenue on these services is recognised as the transactions occur. Other performance obligations, such as the administration of motor service plans, or the administration of a subsidence claim will be delivered over a longer period of time. The key revenue streams are detailed below, and unless otherwise indicated may apply to the motor or property sector:

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.17 Revenue (continued)

Key Business Services revenue streams

Incident management. Once the Group has been advised of a claim, either by taking an emergency roadside call or after being notified by the insurer, the Group assesses the claim, whether motor or property, and deploys the repair into its network of managed body shops or property contractors. Revenue is a fixed contracted percentage of the repair and is received from the repairer not the insurer. Revenue is recorded net as the Group acts as agent and takes no liability for the settlement of the claim and is recognised on a claim by claim basis at the point of deployment into the network as this is where the administration effort is substantially complete. Volume rebates are received from a number of suppliers. These rebates are recognised in line with the term of the related contract, be it annual or over a longer period. The Group also handles the payment process on behalf of the client however, effort is minimal and deemed perfunctory. The Group has an identical methodology for the servicing of vehicles except, in this instance, the customer is generally a fleet company.

Loss adjusting. Loss adjusting services may be performed as a stand-alone service for those insurers who do not take the end-to-end claims service. For both motor and property claims the Group performs the determination and approval of the repair on behalf of the insurer. An administration fee is recognised as revenue at the point of delivery of the loss adjuster's report when the service is complete.

Car hire and leasing. The Group promotes special offers to clients acting as an agent to the leasing company and receives a commission for the service which is recognised as revenue as an agent when the lease is signed.

Sale of Motor Parts. In certain geographies the Group supplies motor parts to its network of repairer garages. The Group's business model is for these goods to be delivered directly from the supplier to the customer and as a result it does not take inventory risk. However, the Group is exposed to the credit and supply of its counterparties and consequently recognises the transaction gross, in the Income Statement. Revenue is recognised at the point of despatch from the supplier to the customer.

Service Plans. In the UK, the Group has contracts with a number of motor manufacturers and motor retailers to administrate service plans for motor vehicles. The Group earns administration fees over the life of the service plan, and from charges levied on administration of direct debit instalments. Volume rebates are due to a number of customers and are recognised in line with the term of the contractual agreements. Revenue is recognised net of rebates over the life of a service plan.

Service and Maintenance Plans. In South Africa the Group has contracts with a number of motor manufacturers, dealer groups and banks to provide services in relation to automotive service and maintenance plans for a fixed fee. Contracts can be either off-risk where the Group typically provides administration services or on-risk where in addition the Group has assumed the liability of the service cost (see below).

Off-risk plans

In the case of off-risk plans the Group receives a fee per vehicle per month for the administration of the policy. These can be paid either monthly or in advance. In all cases revenue and profits are recognised evenly over the term of the policy. In addition, in certain cases, to the extent the Group is able to manage a specified book of policies to settlement below a contracted benchmark it is entitled to a share of the savings on a percentage basis as determined by the contract. Based on prior experience of a significant number of similar claims the Group is reliably able to estimate these savings and revenue and profit is recognised as this service is delivered.

On-risk models

Service and maintenance plans. On-risk service and maintenance plans may be term or monthly policies. These are deemed on-risk as the Group bears all liability for the service / maintenance costs and receives all the benefit should a portfolio of policies be settled below the premium price and is on-risk should total costs exceed the premium. The plans are priced based on the estimated cost of the specified services plus an administration fee and third-party commission.

Service and maintenance plans – term policies. Revenues and profits in respect of the fund portion are recognised over the life of the policy based in line with estimated future service costs. Future costs are estimated using an actuarial curve derived from historic experience of costs incurred on similar policies. The costs of services are recognised as incurred.

Service and maintenance plans – monthly policies. In the case of monthly policies the total premium is recognised monthly as received with no distinction between administration fee and fund. The costs of the services are recognised as incurred, which is considered an even distribution of cost in line with revenues across a large book of plans.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.17 Revenue (continued)

Service Type Warranty EMaC have commenced a product offering to include warranties for which EMaC bears the risk and rewards. That is, the Company recognises a profit where policyholder contributions exceed warranty indemnity spend and a loss where policyholder contributions are at a deficit to warranty indemnity spend. Under IFRS 15, the warranty product offering is that of a 'Service Type Warranty'. Hence, revenue is recognised over time as the Company satisfies its obligation to provide warranty cover to the policyholder. Indemnity expenses are recognised as cost of sales as incurred.

Property subsidence claims. The handling of subsidence claims, only performed in the UK, is by its nature a more lengthy process than motor and property repair claims, with the settlement of some claims spanning more than one accounting period. The Group recognises administration fees and profit shares on subsidence claims on an activity basis. Revenue from profit shares are only recognised when it is reliably certain that no future reversals will occur. This is considered to be at the point when less than 1% of the total book value remains open and qualitative aspects are also reliably certain. This can cause fluctuations in the recognition of revenue.

In general, where the Group is involved in the administration of the settlement of a claim a fixed contractual fee is received. For some contracts, the Group has entered into a 'risk and reward' model. On-risk models result when the Group shares, in part or fully, in the savings or losses generated from the settlement of a claim, or portfolio of claims, against a contracted benchmark.

For on-risk contracts, the administration fee is either fixed in the contract or separately allocated from the fees received using evidence of fair value determined from the administration only contracts.

The Group has a number of contracts which generate revenue based on the Group's ability to settle a portfolio of notified claims within a specific period below a contractually agreed benchmark. Revenue is measured on these contracts to the extent that the saving attributable to the Group has been delivered and can be reliably measured. An average settlement per claim is calculated, being the actual cost on all closed claims in the population plus an estimate to settle all remaining open claims, adjusted by a deterioration factor to allow for the worsening of claims, divided by the number of claims in the population. Provided this average cost per claim is lower than the contractual benchmark, revenue is recognised on an activity basis.

Where the average settlement per claim is calculated to be higher than the benchmark, the Group may become liable for a capped amount of excess and will provide in full for any exposure.

These on risk contracts may be funded either through the customer's own bank account, through an Innovation Group bank account funded by the customer or in limited situations through the Group's own bank account with the Group taking prime responsibility for the settlement. For these on risk contracts, to the extent funds flow through the Group's bank accounts, they will be accounted for on a gross basis in the Balance Sheet.

Revenue earned by the Software Division

Initial Licence Fees

Revenues are recognised when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the licence fee is fixed or determinable, the collection of the fee is reasonably assured, no significant obligations with regard to installation or implementation of the software remain, and customer acceptance, when applicable, has been obtained.

Maintenance Services

Maintenance services are typically billed on an annual basis in advance. The Group recognises this revenue on a monthly basis over the period of the contract on a straight line basis.

Hosting Services

Where hosting is provided as part of a new solution sale, the hosting revenue stream will either be negotiated as a distinct separable element within the overall contract or will have a fair value attributed to it from the overall revenue stream generated. This is recognised rateably as the service is provided over the term of the contract.

1.18 Interest income

Interest is recognised in the Income Statement, using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.19 Employee benefits

Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

1.20 Government grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that:

- the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them; and
- the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs that they are intended to compensate.

A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the entity with no future related costs is recognised as income of the period in which it becomes receivable.

Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the Balance Sheet by setting up the grant as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount of the asset.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any un-amortised deferred credit set up in respect of the grant. To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no deferred credit exists, the repayment is recognised immediately as an expense.

Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the deferred income balance by the amount repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation that would have been recognised to date as an expense in the absence of the grant is recognised immediately as an expense.

1.21 Exceptional Items

The Group classifies items of income and expense as exceptional items, where the nature of the item is non-recurring so as to assist the user of the consolidated financial statements to better understand the results of the operations of the group. Exceptional items are disclosed separately in the primary statements. Exceptional items primarily relate to impairments, restructuring and refinancing costs, legal and labour dispute settlements, uncapitalised non-recurring development and implementation costs of internally generated software, gains or losses outside the normal scope of business and provisions relating to historic loss-making contracts. These are added back when calculating the Group's adjusted EBITDA*.

* EBITDA is an adjusted performance measure consisting of profit before interest, tax, depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.22 Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The preparation of Financial Statements requires management, from time to time, to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. These estimates and associated assumptions are based on experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical accounting judgement whereby a reasonable change in the next 12 months would give rise to a material impact on the financial statements.

Capitalisation of Proprietary Software Development Costs

Judgement is required to determine that only applicable costs are capitalised and that the carrying value of the asset at each reporting period is supported by the net present value of future cash flows to be derived from it.

Inappropriate capitalisation of costs would improve profitability as costs would be put on the Balance Sheet rather than expensed through the Income Statement.

The carrying value of Proprietary Software is at risk of being overstated if the Group's future transformation initiatives change the development roadmap.

The value of internally generated software capitalised in the period was £12.3m (2021; £10.3m). See note 12.

Critical Accounting Estimate

The following are the critical accounting estimates that the Directors believe could reasonably move by an amount that could cause a material impact on the financial statements in the next 12 months:

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets is at risk of impairment involves a number of estimates, which includes the value of cash flows estimated to be generated from the asset in the future (initially driven by the budget for the following financial year) and the discount rate to be applied to these cash flows so that an assessment of their net present value can be made. This is tested annually. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been determined based upon value in use calculations. The key estimates within the calculations are:

- Forecast future cash flows;
- Discount rates; and
- Growth rates and terminal growth rates.

If the estimates supporting the calculated value of goodwill are over optimistic, including the assumed revenue growth and cost savings arising from transformation, then the Group is at risk of overstating the value of the asset and hence overstating profits.

Detail of how these estimates are derived is included in note 11.

Details of the specific rates used and the value of any amounts which have been written off within administrative expenses in the income statement and are detailed in notes 11 and 12 and sensitivity analysis in note 11.

Other important Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The following are other important estimates and judgements that the Directors have made within the Financial Statements, that are not deemed critical:

(Registration number 11838883)

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.22 Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue recognition on on-risk revenue share arrangements (and associated contract loss provisions)

There are a number of key estimates and judgements that are required to be made in regards to establishing the revenue recognition profile on revenue share arrangements.

For the on-risk contracts handled by the UK subsidence business, these include:

- Development of actuarial claims curves used in fee recognition;
- The levels of outstanding recoveries to be made on a portfolio of claims;
 The level of potential increase in the settlement value for open claims within a portfolio;
- The projection of the ultimate settlement value for a portfolio of claims;
 The costs to complete on a "work-in-progress" run off book, no revenue is recognised until costs to complete are less than 1% of the total costs; and
- The number of claims left open, no revenue is recognised until 3 or fewer claims remain.

As no revenue has been recognised for on-risk claims in the UK, the judgement is deemed to be in respect of point of recognition, as opposed to the accuracy.

For the on-risk service and maintenance plans handled by the South African motor business, these include:

- Development of actuarial claims curves;
- The cancellation rate of policies sold; The number of services taken under a policy; and
- The number of policies that may lapse.

For the on-risk contracts with fixed fee elements and the off-risk contracts all handled by the UK subsidence business this includes:

- Development of actuarial claims curves.

For the warranty plans administered by the South African motor business and written through the associate cell captive, these include:

- Development of actuarial claims curves;
- Levels of costs incurred on inception of a plan; and
- The number of policies that may lapse.

For contract loss provisions, these include:

- Future claims levels; and
- Cost of settlement of future claims.

Amendments to estimates may impact the revenue and EBITDA recognised in a period.

The Group uses past experience to inform estimates and where necessary uses third party specialist advice to develop revenue recognition curves.

Please refer to notes 3 and 24.

Contract-related matters

From time to time contractual issues arise whose resolution is uncertain and could impact the Group's future earnings. The Directors make their best estimate in determining the likely outcome and take account of the advice of legal experts where necessary in making these judgements.

If the outcome of such matters differs from the best estimates made by the Directors, it could materially impact the Group's future reported earnings.

Please refer to note 25.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Accounting Policies

1.22 Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates (continued)

Cell captives as associates

The warranty plans administered by the South African motor business are written through associate cell captives which are managed by third-party insurance companies. As the Group does not directly manage and control the cell the Group judges and treats it as associates rather than fully consolidated as a subsidiary undertakings.

Fully consolidating these cell captives would bring all assets and liabilities gross on to the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Investment value is £11.7m (2021: £7.8m). Please refer to note 14.

Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax assets are recognised where management believe that the availability of future profits is reasonably assured and hence available losses are likely to be utilised.

If the estimates supporting future available taxable profits are optimistic then the Group is at risk of overstating the value of deferred tax assets.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has recognised £7.6m (2021: £14.6m) of deferred tax assets and has gross unrecognised temporary differences of £523m (2021: £474m). Please refer to note 15.

1.23 Prepayments

When the company holds property under a long term prepaid lease agreement, the lease is classified as a finance lease or an operating lease in accordance with the provisions of IAS 17 Leases. Refer to the accounting policy on leases. When these leases are classified as finance leases, the property is capitalised as leasehold property, and is depreciated over the lease

1.24 Hedge accounting

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the company documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the company documents whether the hedging instrument is effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk, which is when the hedging relationships meet all of the following hedge effectiveness requirements:

• there is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument;

• the effect of credit risk does not dominate the value changes that result from that economic relationship; and

- the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that the company actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the company actually uses to hedge that quantity of hedged item.

If a hedging relationship ceases to meet the hedge effectiveness requirement relating to the hedge ratio but the risk management objective for that designated hedging relationship remains the same, the company adjusts the hedge ratio of the hedging relationship (i.e. rebalances the hedge) so that it meets the qualifying criteria again

The company designates the full change in the fair value of a forward contract (i.e. including the forward elements) as the hedging instrument for all of its hedging relationships involving forward contracts.

The company excludes the time value of options and designates only the intrinsic value of options as the hedging instruments in hedges involving options as the hedging instruments. The change in fair value attributable to the time value of options is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as deferred hedging gains (losses). The company only hedges time period related hedged items using options. The change in the aligned time value is recognised in other comprehensive income and is amortised on a systematic and rational basis over the period during which the hedge adjustment for the option's intrinsic value could affect profit or loss (or other comprehensive income, if the hedged item is an equity instrument at fair value through other comprehensive income). However, if hedge accounting is discontinued the net amount (i.e. including cumulative amortisation) that has been accumulated in the deferred hedging reserve is immediately reclassified into profit or loss.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1. Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/ Interpretation	Effective date	Expected impact:
 Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Amendments to IFRS 1 	01 January 2022	Not expected to have a material impact
 Reference to the Conceptual Framework: Amendments to IFRS 3 	01 January 2022	Not expected to have a material impact
 Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Amendments to IFRS 9 	01 January 2022	Not expected to have a material impact
 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use: Amendments to IAS 16 	01 January 2022	Not expected to have a material impact
 Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract: Amendments to IAS 37 	01 January 2022	Not expected to have a material impact
 Annual Improvement to IFRS Standards 2018-2020: Amendments to IAS 41 	01 January 2022	Not expected to have a material impact

2.2. Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The Group has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are applicable for the Group's accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2023:

Standa	rd/ Interpretation	Effective date	Expected impact:
•	Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction - Amendments to IAS 12	01 January 2023	Not expected to have a material impact
•	Disclosure of accounting policies: Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2.	01 January 2023	Not expected to have a material impact
•	Definition of accounting estimates: Amendments to IAS 8	01 January 2023	Not expected to have a material impact
•	Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- Current - Amendment to IAS 1	01 January 2024	Not expected to have a material impact
•	IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts	01 January 2023	Management assessment ongoing

Note that these statements are not yet endorsed by the UK.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
3. Revenue		
Revenue from contracts with customers	50.400	40.405
Sale of goods Rendering of services	50,462 149,832	42,105 138,109
	200,294	180,214
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers		
The company disaggregates revenue from customers as follows:		
Sale of goods Sale of parts	50,462	42,105
Rendering of services		
Business and software services	149,832	138,109
Total revenue from contracts with customers	200,294	180,214
Timing of revenue recognition		
At a point in time Sale of goods	50.462	42,105
Over time		
Rendering of services	149,832	138,109
Total revenue from contracts with customers	200,294	180,214
No revenue was derived from exchanges of goods or services.		
Contract liabilities as at 31 December 2021 of £35.7m (2020: £40.3m) have been recognis £18.4m (2021: £17.2m) of revenue has been recognised in the current year from performa period.		
The geographical split of revenue is analysed as follows:		
United Kingdom	58,460	52,368
Rest of Europe Rest of World	86,138 55,696	76,174 51,672
	200,294	180,214
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related to contracts with cust	tomers:	
Contract liabilities	(43,949)	(48,082
	27,993	18,354
Contract assets	21,993	10,334

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
4. Exceptional items		
Acquisition related costs (2021, disposal)	39	82
Legal fees	206	571
Software related expenses	2,946	3,674
Refinancing costs	48	3,015
Restructuring costs	2,925	1,158
Transaction costs	4,001	-
Provisions	(198)	691
VAT refunds on exceptional costs	<u>-</u> '	8
Impairments	1,539	572
Total exceptional items included within administrative expenses	11,506	9,771

Significant costs that are once-off in nature and not part of the recurring business have been recorded as exceptional items:

Acquisition related costs

Profits and losses relating to the purchase or sale/closure of businesses.

Legal fees falling outside of the above-mentioned categories pertaining to once-off events.

Software related expenses

Software implementation costs not capitalised.

Refinancing costs

Professional fees incurred during the refinancing process.

Restructuring costs

Once-off costs relating to office relocations, retrenchments and additional audit fees.

Transaction costs

Once-off costs incurred as part of the sale of the Group to Allianz Strategic Investments. S.a.r.I

Relates mainly to onerous and terminated contract provisions raised or released described in note 25. Where provisions recognised in previous periods were treated as exceptional costs, the related provision releases are also classified as exceptional items.

VAT refunds on exceptional costs

Relates to expenditure previously recorded as exceptional items inclusive of VAT, whereby a VAT claim has subsequently been filed successfully and the VAT has been refunded.

Impairments

£1.5m (2021: £0.6m) consist of impairments of intangible assets (excluding goodwill) and property, plant and equipment as shown in the table below.

		2022		2021	
	Intangible assets (excluding goodwill)	Property, plant and equipment	Total	Property, plant and equipment	Total
	£ '000	£ '000	£ '000	£ '000	£ '000
UK	504	464	968	572	572
Western Europe	-	562	562	-	-
Central Europe	-	9	9	-	-
	504	1,035	1,539	572	572

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
5. Operating loss		
Operating loss from continuing operations for the year is stated after charging / (crediting) the following, amongst o	thers:
Depreciation - owned assets	1,772	1,889
- leased assets	2,104	3,360
Amortisation of intangible assets	16,432	14,273
Operating lease payments - buildings	287	279
- other	39	40
Auditors' remuneration - audit of the Group financial statements	396	364
- local statutory audits for subsidiaries	688	608
- all other services	18	21
Exchange (gains) / losses	(568)	15
Gain) / loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment mpairments	(87) 1,539	1,343 572
Employee costs		
Wages and salaries	70,237	61,87
Social security costs	4,893	6,039
Pension and other employee costs	2,408	1,31
Directors' remuneration	980	1,18
Total employee costs	78,518	70,41
Headcount - average number of employees		
Administration	17	1
Business services	2,167	2,10
Software developers	110	7-
	2,294	2,19

The highest paid director received £462k for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £552k).

One director made contributions to a pension scheme in the year to the value of £7k (2021: Two directors - £7k).

Certain directors were representatives of the Group's shareholders and did not received any remuneration from the Group during the year.

16 directors received shares during the year in respect of qualifying services under long-term incentive schemes. Refer to note 21.

Finance income

Interest income

Bank and other cash	1,320	725
Finance lease receivables	3	4
Release of PIK loan	-	116,591
Release of senior debt	-	56,683
Total finance income	1,323	174,003

In March 2021, the Group completed a restructuring of its debt which resulted in the PIK loan and an element of the senior debt being waived in exchange for equity.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
7. Finance costs		
Interest payable on super senior debt	-	503
Interest payable on senior dobt	11,432	9,871
Interest payable on PIK Notes	2,500	2,058 868
Interest payable on priority debt Net foreign exchange gains on foreign currency borrowings	(1,540)	(2,243)
Amortisation of arrangement fee	364	340
Bank loans and overdraft	265	186
Interest payable on finance leases	562	599
Derecognition of derivative asset	-	112,569
Total finance costs	13,583	124,751
8. Total tax charge / (credit)		
Major components of the tax charge/(credit)		
Current		
Current tax on profits for the year - Continuing operations	3,304	1,945
Adjustments for current tax of prior years	177	62
Total current tax charge	3,481	2,007
Deferred		(2.222)
Deferred income tax adjustments for current year	(1,911)	(2,207)
Deferred income tax adjustments for prior years	492	(157) ————
Total deferred tax credit	(1,419)	(2,364)
Total tax charge / (credit)	2,062	(357)
Reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit)		
The tax charge / (credit) for the period can be reconciled to the profit per the Consolidate	ed Income Statement as fol	ows:
Group (loss)/profit before tax on continuing operations	(22,225)	37,003
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 19% (2021: 19%)	(4,223)	7,031
Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income	(000)	(44.400)
Income not taxable	(292) (332)	(11,198) (698)
Rate differences of overseas earnings Transfers to unrecognised deferred tax assets	(332) 6,078	4,608
Prior year adjustments	668	(95)
Other taxes	163	(5)
Total tax charge / (credit)	2,062	(357)

There is no tax income or expense arising from any of the items recognised in Other Comprehensive Income in the current or prior period.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

9. Dividends paid		
Dividends on ordinary shares paid to interests of subsidiary undertakings:	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Innovation Group South Africa (Proprietary) Limited	1,050	512

The Directors do not propose a final dividend in respect of 2022 (2021: £Nil).

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

10. Property, plant and equipment

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment

Total ξ.'000		24,410	2,513	4,578	(5,854)	9	(1,307)	24,346	1,180	171	(6,514)	1,315	20,498
Right of use asset £ '000		15,350	•	4,578	(4,677)	9	(618)	14,639	(5)	144	(3,203)	616	12,191
Property Fimprovements		862	536	•	(375)	900	(147)	906	1	27	(2)	86	1,014
Computer systems and in equipment		2,926	1,103	•	(20)	ı	(354)	3,625	855	Ī	(594)	438	4,324
		255	•	1	4)		(23)	228	226	•	(149)	12	317
Fixtures and Motor vehicles fittings £ '000 £ '000		1,045	874	•	(625)	(30)	(165)	1,099	104	•	(454)	163	912
Leasehold Property £'000		ı	,	•			•	,	•		•	•	•
Land and freehold buildings £ '000		3,972		•	(123)		•	3,849	•	•	(2,109)	1	1,740
:		7 2021		ough leasing	Disposals	m intangible assets	Foreign exchange movements	ber 2021		ough leasing)	Foreign exchange movements	ber 2022
	Cost	At 01 January 2021	Additions	Additions thro	Disposals	Transfers fror	Foreign exch	At 31 December 2021	Additions	Additions thro	Disposals	Foreign exch	At 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)	Land and	Leasehold	Fixtures and	Motor vehicles	Computer	Property	Right of use	Total
	ireenold buildings £ '000	£,000	900, 3	000, 3	systems and equipment	3 ,000	000, 3	£ ,000
Accumulated depreciation and impairment	(237)	i	(285)	(83)	£ '000	(333)		(B 010)
Disposals	(107)	,	590 590	(70)	(307(1)	352	3,569	4.511
Transfers	•	,	(2)	•	2	•		(9)
Depreciation	(103)	j	(467)	(55)	(957)	(307)		(5,249)
Impairment loss recognised in income		,						(572)
Foreign exchange movements		J	108	14	262	100		808
At 31 December 2021	(340)	,	(69)	(123)	(1,892)	(187)		(8,518)
Disposals	•	,	444	119	594	4		4,110
Depreciation	(55)	•	(427)	(09)	(919)	(311)		(3,876)
Impairment loss recognised in the Income Statement		(26)			(17)	•		(1,035)
Foreign exchange movements	•		(120)	(6)	(272)	(20)		(664)
At 31 December 2022	(395)	(26)	(162)	(73)	(2,506)	(544)		(9,983)
Carrying amount								
Cost	3.849	,	1,099	228	3,625	906	•	24,346
Accumulated depreciation and impairment	(340)	,	(23)	(123)	(1,892)	(187)		(8,518)
At 31 December 2021	3,509	•	1,040	105	1,733	719	8,722	15,828
Cost	1,740	,	912	317	4,324	1,014	•	20,498
Accumulated depreciation and impairment	(362)	(99)	(162)	(73)	(2,506)	(544)	(6.247)	(8,983)
At 31 December 2022	1,345	(99)	750	244	1,818	470	5,944	10,515

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

10. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment encumbered as security

Refer to note 22 for details of security existing on the above assets.

All assets within land and buildings are freehold. Freehold land included within land and buildings amounts to £1,826k (2021: £1,826k). In accordance with IAS 16, this is not depreciated.

Net carrying amounts of leased assets

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Buildings Motor vehicles	5,437 499	8,320 401
Computer systems and equipment	8	1
	5,944	8,722

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

11. Goodwill

Reconciliation of goodwill

		Goodwill £ '000
Cost At 01 January 2021		178,281
Foreign exchange movements		(7,008)
At 31 December 2021		171,273
Additions through business combinations	30	1,390
Foreign exchange movements		7,069
At 31 December 2022		179,732
Amounts provided At 01 January 2021		(445 200)
Foreign exchange movements		(115,309) 2,797
At 31 December 2021		(112,512)
Foreign exchange movements		(4,060)
At 31 December 2022		(116,572)
Carrying amount		
Cost		171,273
Accumulated amortisation and impairment		(112,512)
At 31 December 2021		58,761
Cost		179,732
Accumulated amortisation and impairment		(116,572)
At 31 December 2022		63,160
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to Cash Generating Units ("CGUs") is as follows:		
	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
UK	1,390	-
Central Europe	46,784	44,405
South Africa	14,986	14,356
	63,160	58,761

Goodwill is allocated to a regional CGU as either Business Services or Software unless the acquisition is not immediately integrated into the existing businesses of that CGU. In which case, goodwill arising on acquisition is allocated to its own separate CGU until such a time that the business is integrated.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

11. Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to CGUs. The Group conducts annual impairment tests on the carrying value of goodwill using value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are the discount rate applied, forecast cash flows and the long-term growth rate of net operating cash flows.

Management has prepared a budget for 2023, which has been approved by the Board and forecasts have been prepared for the 2024 - 2025 years. Cash flows beyond the forecast period are extrapolated using expected long-term growth rates. Further information on the assumptions used within the major CGUs is detailed below.

Key Assumptions Used in Value in Use Calculations

The calculation of value in use for all of the business units is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

- forecast cash flow; and
- discount rates; and
- growth rates and terminal growth rates used to extrapolate cashflow beyond the budget period.

The forecast cash flow is based on management's budget and forecasts of EBITDA which are based upon both past performance and experience together with changes anticipated following expected developments within each location and operating segment. EBITDA is defined as operating profit after adding back depreciation, amortisation and exceptional items. EBITDA is then adjusted by other cash items such as capital expenditure to determine the forecast cash flow assumption.

Discount rates reflect management's estimation of the rate of return that would be expected from a rational investor over the period of the forecast, should the CGU be independent of the Group's capital structure. In determining these rates management has reflected specific risks relating to the relevant operating segments. Specific details of the discount rates for each CGU are provided below.

The growth rates used for periods beyond management developed forecasts are shown below and reflect an estimate of longterm growth rates in the regions in which the Group operates.

	2022			2021		
,	EBITDA growth rate year 4 - 5	Terminal growth rate	Pre-tax discount rate	EBITDA growth rate year 4 - 5	Terminal growth rate	Pre-tax discount rate
UK	4 - 5 %	1.9 %	16.45 %	4 - 5 %	2 %	12.96 %
Central Europe	4 - 5 %	1.9 %	15.00 %	4 - 5 %	2 %	13.57 %
Western Europe	2 %	0.0 %	16.00 %	2 %	- %	16.00 %
South Africa	4 - 5 %	4.9 %	24.31 %	4 - 5 %	4 %	20.83 %
Asia Pacific	2 %	2.6 %	17.14 %	2 %	3 %	15.71 %
North America	5 - 6 %	2.3 %	15.82 %	5 - 6 %	2 %	13.29 %

Further details on the main CGUs with material goodwill balances are detailed below:

Central Europe - This CGU represents the Services businesses in Germany and Poland.

South Africa - This CGU represents the Services businesses in South Africa, Botswana, Namibia and Mauritius.

Impairment

Goodwill balances within Western Europe, Asia Pacific and North America are fully impaired, therefore an annual impairment test is performed for the recoverability of other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment. The Goodwill balance in the UK consists of the acquisition of Warwick Partnership Limited £1.39m (2021: £Nil). The remaining Goodwill balances in the UK are fully impaired.

The impairment review performed at the year end did not identify projected underperformance in any of the businesses compared to the investment case at acquisition and accordingly no impairment charge was booked in the year. The impairment recorded was £Nil (2021: £Nil) to goodwill.

For the UK, Central Europe and South African CGUs, which are presented at their calculated value in use, any changes to the assumptions outlined above, for example, an increase to the discount rate or lower growth than expected, could result in impairment.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

11. Goodwill (continued)

Impact of changes in key assumptions

The following table details the sensitivities to the key assumptions used by the impairment test review. It details the impact on the value in use of the CGU of a 1% movement in the key assumptions. The impact of the below scenarios on the impairment recognised is £Nil

Goodwill and Intangibles	UK	Central Europe	South Africa	Total
	£'000	£.000	£'000	£'000
Reduction in growth rates year 4-5 by 1%	(1,080)	(1,767)	(386)	(3,233)
Reduction in terminal growth rates by 1%	(4,444)	(9,280)	(1,405)	(15,129)
Combined sensitivity to growth rates	(5,524)	(11,047)	(1,791)	(18,362)
Sensitivity to discount rates - increase by 1%	(6,395)	(12,311)	(2,095)	(20,801)
Combined sensitivity to growth rates and increase in discount rates	(11,919)	(23,358)	(3,886)	(39,163)
Sensitivity to discount rates - decrease by 1%	12,154	24,833	3.861	40,848
Combined sensitivity to growth rates and decrease in discount rates	6,630	13,786	2,070	22,486

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

12. Intangible assets (excluding goodwill)

·-·				
	Trade Names	Proprietary software	Customer relationships	Total
	£'000	£'000	£'000	£'000
Cost At 01 January 2021	8,770	34,066	89,467	132,303
Additions	0,770	10,325	09,407	10,325
Disposals and retirements	-	(652)	-	(652)
Foreign exchange movements	(366)	(33)	(3,779)	(4,178)
At 31 December 2021	8,404	43,706	85,688	137,798
Additions	-	12,259	-	12,259
Foreign exchange movements	368	44	4,981	5,393
At 31 December 2022	8,772	56,009	90,669	155,450
Accumulated amortisation and impairment				
At 01 January 2021	(1,589)	-	(28,942)	(30,531)
Disposals	(385)	652 (8,012)	(5,876)	652 (14,273)
Amortisation Foreign exchange movements	39	(8,012)	655	694
_		(7,360)	(34,163)	(43,458)
At 31 December 2021	(1,935) (383)	(7,360) (10,261)	(5,788)	(16,432)
Amortisation Impairment loss	(303)	(504)	(3,766)	(504)
Foreign exchange movements	(143)	-	(2,904)	(3,047)
At 31 December 2022	(2,461)	(18,125)	(42,855)	(63,441)
Carrying amount				
Cost	8.404	43,706	85,688	137,798
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	(1,935)	(7,360)	(34,163)	(43,458)
At 31 December 2021	6,469	36,346	51,525	94,340
Cost	8,772	56,009	90,669	155,450
Accumulated amortisation and impairment	(2,461)	(18,125)	(42,855)	(63,441)
At 31 December 2022	6,311	37,884	47,814	92,009

Other information

Amortisation of continuing operations for the period acccounted for £16.4m (2021: £14.3m). All amortisation is charged through administrative expenses in the Income Statement.

All intangible assets are internally generated or acquired.

No intangible assets have an indefinite life. The remaining lives of the intangible assets are: proprietary software 1-5 years, customer relationships 7-12 years and trade names 17 years.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

13. Interests in subsidiaries

Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below is the summarised financial information for Innovation Group (Pty) Ltd being the subsidiary at 31 December 2022 which has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed are before inter-company

Subsidiary	Country of incorporation	% Ownership interest held by non- controlling interest		
		2022	2021	
Innovation Group (Pty) Ltd	South Africa	25%	25%	

The country of incorporation and the principal place of business are the same.

The percentage ownership interest and the percentage voting rights of the non controlling interests are the same.

Summarised balance sheet		
	Innovation Gro	up (Pty) Ltd
	£ '000	2021 £ '000
Assets Non-current assets	24,995	22,093
Current assets	33,340	26,668
Total assets	58,335	48,761
Liabilities Non-current liabilities	12,704	12.378
Current liabilities	25,964	18,087
i otai liabilities	38,668	30,465
lotal net assets	19,667	18,296
Carrying amount of non-controlling interest	4,917	4,574
Summarised statement of comprehensive income		
	Innovation Gro	up (Pty) Ltd
	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Revenue	43,336	42,271
Profit for the period	4,786	4,898
Total comprehensive income	4,786	4,898
Profit allocated to non-controlling interest	1,196	1,225
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest	1,050	512

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

13. Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

Summarised cash flows

Innovation Group (Pty) Ltd

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Cash flows from operating activities	9,299	5,187
Cash flows from investing activities	1,328	(1,020)
Cash flows from financing activities	(5,977)	(2,988)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	4,650	1,179

14. Financial assets

Name of company	Country of incorporation	% ownership interest 2022	% ownership interest 2021	Carrying amount 2022 £ '000	Carrying amount 2021 £ '000
Guardrisk Insurance Company Ltd Momentum Insurance Ltd	South Africa South Africa	100.00 % 100.00 %		9,064 689	7,306 501
Service My Car	South Africa	27.00 %	• •	62	-
KS Autoglass	Germany	50.00 %	- %	1,934	-
			_	11,749	7,807

The country of incorporation and the principal place of business are the same.

Financial assets consist of 100% investments in cell captives within Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited and Momentum Insurance Ltd. The directors have concluded that the Group exercises significant influence but is unable to exercise control.

The directors have concluded that the Group does not exercise significant influence and is unable to exercise control with regards to Service My Car and KS Autoglass.

Financial assets

Carrying value as at 1 January 2021 Share of profit retained for the year Foreign exchange	Financial assets € '000 7,443 910 (546)
Carrying value as at 31 December 2021 Acquisitions Share of profit retained for the year Distributions - dividends received Foreign exchange	7,807 1,857 2,669 (991) 407
Carrying value as at 31 December 2022	11,749

Financial assets held at 31 December 2022 are accounted for at cost less any provision for impairment, where reliable fair values are not available. Where reliable market values are available, other investments are stated at this amount.

Distributions in the period of £991k (2021: £Nil) relate to dividends received from associates.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
15. Corporation tax		
Deferred tax liability		
Intangible assets	(16,167)	(21,607)
Unremitted earnings Total deferred tax liability	(36) (16,203)	(21,607)
Deferred tax asset		
Decelerated capital allowances	2,931	3,332
Short-term temporary differences	7,157	6,936
Deferred tax balance from temporary differences other than unused tax losses	10,088	10,268
Tax losses available for set off against future taxable income Total deferred tax asset	10,088	4,307 1 4,575
The deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liability that relate to income tax in the same juri settlement, have been offset in the balance sheet as follows:	sdiction, where the law	v allows net
Deferred tax liability Deferred tax asset	(7,356) 1,241	(7,787) 755
Total net deferred tax liability	(6,115)	(7,032)
Reconciliation of deferred tax asset /(liability)		
At beginning of the year Increases (decrease) in tax loss available for set off against future taxable income -	(7,032) (4,310)	(9,913) (1,498)
gross of valuation allowance Release of deferred tax on acquired intangibles	6,100	294
Other short-term temporary differences Foreign exchange	(371) (502)	3,568 517
At the end of the year	(6,115)	(7,032)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by reference to the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the relevant asset is realised or liability settled, based on the tax rates that have been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date. The Finance Act 2021 was substantively enacted on 24 May 2021 and sets the main UK rate for corporation tax for the period to 31 March 2023 at 19%, after which time it would increase to 25%.

Deferred tax liabilities are released as the underlying intangible assets are amortised. The credit arising is offset in the UK, Germany Australia and the USA by the corresponding de recognition of deferred tax assets on trading losses or other timing differences which the Group recognises only to the extent that deferred tax liabilities have arisen in the same territory.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

** -	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
		2 000

15. Corporation tax (continued)

Recognition of deferred tax asset

The Group's policy is to look forward one accounting period when assessing future utilisation of deferred tax assets. However, where territories have consistently proven to be profitable, a deferred tax asset has been recognised on the basis that a longer forecast period of utilisation is appropriate. The deferred tax asset recognised at 31 December 2022 is £10.1m (2021: £14.6m).

Unrecognised temporary differences

Decelerated capital allowances	6,760	4,905
Other timing differences	99,048	79,580
Tax losses - income	249,003	232,249
Tax losses - capital losses	157,854	157,854
	512,665	474,588

Unrecognised deferred tax assets largely relate to carried forward tax losses which are available for offset against future profits of the companies, primarily in the UK, in which the losses have arisen. These assets have not been recognised on the basis that there is insufficient evidence that the asset will be recoverable at the balance sheet date. The assets will only be recognised if future taxable profits become probable against which they can be utilised.

It is likely that the majority of the unremitted overseas earnings would qualify for the UK dividend exemption introduced by Finance Act 2009 and therefore no tax liability is expected to arise on the repatriation of the earnings from overseas subsidiaries and associates. At 31 December 2022 no provision is held for irrecoverable withholding tax on unremitted earnings (2021: £Nil).

16. Trade and other receivables

Financial instruments: Trade receivables from contracts with customers Loss allowance	37,308 (2,379)	36,962 (2,870)
Trade receivables - net Contract assets Stocks Other debtors	34,929 27,993 45 1,057	34,092 18,354 83 2,884
Total trade and other receivables	64,024	55,413
Split between non-current and current portions		
Non-current assets Current assets	127 63,897	56 55,357
	64,024	55,413

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

16. Trade and other receivables (continued)

Exposure to credit risk

Trade receivables inherently expose the company to credit risk, being the risk that the company will incur financial loss if customers fail to make payments as they fall due.

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and on average have 30 to 60 day settlement terms. The credit quality of the trade receivables is considered by management to be very good as a high proportion of customers are large global companies with whom the Group trades on a long-term basis. Management do not consider that there is a significant concentration of credit risk due to the spread of trade receivables across the global business. None of the contract assets or other debtor balances are considered impaired.

	2022	2022	2021	2021
Expected credit loss rate:	Estimated gross carrying amount at default £ '000	Loss allowance (Lifetime expected credit loss) £ '000	Estimated gross carrying amount at default £ '000	Loss allowance (Lifetime expected credit loss) £ '000
Less than 30 days past due	8,110	7	-	64
31 - 60 days past due	733	-	5,440	226
61 - 90 days past due	781	-	982	548
91 - 120 days past due	976	-	507	839
More than 120 days past due	5,894	2,372	5,260	1,193
Total	16,494	2,379	12,189	2,870

Reconciliation of loss allowances

The following table shows the movement in the loss allowance (lifetime expected credit losses):

	£ '000	2021 £ '000
Opening balance in accordance with IFRS 9 Provision raised on new trade receivables	2,870	4,171
Provisions reversed on settled trade receivables	498 (1,036)	663 (1,197)
Foreign exchange gains or losses Other	52 (5)	(339) (428)
Closing balance	2,379	2,870

The loss allowance is determined by applying the average default rate experienced over the past two years to the current period trade receivables. The historical default rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the year-end is the carrying value of each class of receivable mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Exposure to currency risk

The company is exposed to currency risk related to trade receivables because of foreign operations denominated in foreign currencies. The currencies in which the company deals primarily are US Dollars, Euros, South African Rands and Australian Dollars.

There have been no significant changes in the foreign currency risk management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

2022	2021
2022	2021
£ '000	£ '000

16. Trade and other receivables (continued)

The net carrying amounts, in Pounds Sterling, of trade and other receivables, excluding non-financial instruments, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in Pounds Sterling by converting the foreign currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting date.

Pounds Amount		
Euro	45,832	36,423
Pounds Sterling	11,399	10,246
US Dollar	3,777	5,538
South African Rand	2,211	2,367
Australian Dollar	587	669
Other	218	170
	64,024	55,413

For the closing exchange rates that were applied to translate trade receivables at the reporting date, refer to note 29.

17. Finance lease receivables

Maturity analysis of lease payments receivable - first year	250	237
- second year	168	237
- third year	-	159
Gross investment in the leases	418	633
Less: Unearned interest income	(2)	(4)
Net investment in the lease	416	629
Non-current assets	209	394
Current assets	207	235
	416	629

The company concluded arrangements to lease out vehicles under various leasing arrangements during the current year.

The average term of these leases is 4 years and the lending rate is 0.49%. In cases where the Group retains ownership of the vehicles at the end of the lease term, variable lease payments have been implemented to manage the risk of use in excess of specified limits.

Specifically, where usage is limited to specified monthly output, a variable lease charge is payable by the lessee which is linked to the excess output volumes (kilometres exceeding 15,000 per annum).

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
18. Cash and cash equivalents		
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:		
Bank balances	52,293	64,850
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-t periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requithe respective short-term deposit rates.	erm deposits are made for v rements of the group and ea	arying rn interest at
Cash held and available for use within the business in our South African operation (incand Mauritius) of £25.2m (2021: £24.0m) is subject to the normal government-imposed	luding Namibia, but excludin d exchange controls for that o	g Botswana country.
Also included within cash are balances of £3.0m (2021: £1.6m) where the use of the ca	ash is restricted.	
19. Share capital		
	2022 £	2021 £
Authorised 75,000,000 (2021: 75,000,000) Ordinary shares of £0.000001 each 10,000 (2021: 9,500) Class B shares of £0.000001 each	75 -	75
	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
Issued Ordinary Class B Share premium	184 184	- - 175 178
There is a single class of ordinary shares. As shares are issued, the cash received upon and included as additions to the Issued Capital account.	on issuance is treated as cor	nsideration
The ordinary shares have attached to them full voting dividend and capital distribution redemption.	rights. They do not confer ar	ny rights of
Class B shares were issued for the benefit of its employees. These shares have no vo confer any rights of redemption.	ting rights attached to them	and do not
20. Foreign currency translation reserve		
Translation reserve comprises exchange differences on consolidation of foreign subsid	diaries and balances accoun	ted for as
Translation reserve comprises exchange differences on consolidation of foreign subsic quasi-equity items.	diaries and balances accoun	
Translation reserve comprises exchange differences on consolidation of foreign subsic quasi-equity items. Attributable to owners of the parent		
 20. Foreign currency translation reserve Translation reserve comprises exchange differences on consolidation of foreign subsic quasi-equity items. Attributable to owners of the parent 21. Equity settled share based payments Class B shares were issued to 16 (2021: 16) members of senior management. The sh (2021: £185k). The estimated vesting period is three years. 	(2,832)	(595

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
22. Interest bearing loans and borrowings		
Held at amortised cost Senior debt Other loans Priority debt Lease liabilities	181,024 27 23,352 8,348	161,007 487 20,515 10,319
Total interest bearing loans and borrowings	213,551	192,328
Split between non-current and current portions		
Non-current liabilities Current liabilities	211,891 1,660	189,707 2,621
	213,551	192,328

Total bank debt of £205.2m (2021: £181.5m) is stated net of unamortised issue costs of £0.6m (2021: £1.0m).

The Group's debt facilities, last updated in March 2021, comprise a Pounds Sterling Priority Term Facility that is fully drawn, and a Senior Debt facility in Pounds Sterling and Euro, also fully drawn. Interest is capitalised on the Priority loans, but this can be paid at the option of the borrower 1 year after their initial utilisation. Interest is capitalised on the Senior Debt loans but this can be paid at the option of the borrower. There are no mandatory instalment payments prior to the final maturity date.

The bank loans are secured on certain of the Group's operations.

Bank loans and PIK notes

Under the terms of its main banking facilities the Group is required to meet one financial covenant on a quarterly basis being Net Debt / EBITDA, the first test under these facilities is on 31 December 2022.

On 12 January 2023 the Group was acquired by Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l., the digital investments arm of the Allianz Group. As a result, the Group's existing debt was repaid in full, all security released and replaced with unsecured promissory notes issued to Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. totalling £206.3m.

Lease liabilities

The Group's lease liabilities are detailed in note 23. The related assets are held as security in respect of these leases. There are no other significant restrictions in place in regard to these assets.

Refer to note 29 Financial instruments and financial risk management for the fair value of borrowings.

Exposure to liquidity risk

Refer to note 29 Financial instruments and financial risk management for details of liquidity risk exposure and management.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

 	-	 		
			2022	2021
			2022	2021 £ '000
			£ '000	£ 000

22. Interest bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

Exposure to currency risk

The company is exposed to currency risk related to certain investments in debt instruments which are denominated in a foreign currency. Refer to note 29 Financial instruments and financial risk management for more details.

There have been no significant changes in the foreign currency risk management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.

The net carrying amounts, in Pounds Sterling, of borrowings, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in Pounds Sterling by converting the foreign currency amount at the closing rate at the reporting date.

Pounds amount		
Euro	130,523	115,167
Pounds Sterling	78,557	72,378
South African Rand	2,909	3,174
US Dollar	1,357	1,343
Australian Dollar	_	111
Other	205	155
	213,551	192,328
For the closing exchange rates that were applied at the reporting date, refer to note 29.		
Exposure to interest rate risk		
Fixed rates		
Other loans (0-6.89% interest rate (2021: 1.5%)	27	487
Lease liabilities (3-10% interest rate)	8,348	10,319
	8,375	10,806
Floating rates		
Priority debt (10% interest rate)	23,352	20,515
Senior debt (6% interest rate (2021: 6%))	181,824	161,007
	205,176	181,522

Lease liabilities

Refer to note 23 Leases (the Group as lessee) for details of leasing activities.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022	2021
	£ '000	£ '000
	£ 000	£ 000

23. Leases (the Group as lessee)

The Group leases various offices and vehicles for which rental contracts are typically for fixed periods of up to 10 years.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

The interest rates imposed on the lease liabilities are fixed interest rates that vary between 3-10% between the different lease agreements through the Group.

Details pertaining to leasing arrangements, where the company is lessee are presented below:

Net carrying amounts of right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of right-of-use assets are included in the following line items:

Right of use asset	5,944	8,722
Depreciation recognised on right-of-use assets		
Depreciation recognised on each class of right-of-use assets, is presented be expensed in the total depreciation charge in profit or loss (note 5).	low. It includes depreciation which has b	been
Buildings Motor vehicles	1,699 402	3,157 187
Computer systems and equipment	<u>3</u> 2,104	3,360
Other disclosures		
Interest expense on lease liabilities	562	599
- Buildings	550	591
- Motor vehicles	12	8

A practical expedient has been taken in respect of IFRS 16 such that short-term and low value assets are not recognised within the Balance Sheet in accordance with IFRS 16. Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office furniture.

Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment leases across the Group. These are used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in operations. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the respective lessor.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

2022 £ '000

2021 £ '000

23. Leases (the Group as lessee) (continued)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities have been included in the interest bearing loans and borrowings line item on the Balance Sheet. Refer to note 22 Interest bearing loans and borrowings.

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:

Within one year Two to five years More than five years	2,667 6,450 774	2,673 7,896 1,731
Less finance charges component	9,891 (1,543)	12,300 (1,980)
Total lease liabilities	8,348	10,320
Non-current liabilities Current liabilities	6,679 1,669	8,183 2,136
Total lease liability	8,348	10,319
24. Contract liabilities		
Summary of contract liabilities		
Contract liabilities	43,949	48,082
Split between non-current and current portions		
Non-current liabilities Current liabilities	24,255 19,694	12,378 35,704
	43,949	48,082

Included within contract liabilities are figures that require separate disclosure under IFRS 4 "Insurance Contracts". These are as follows:

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

24. Contract liabilities (continued)

Insurance liabilities	Subsidence Maintenance				
On-risk contracts	contracts £ '000	plans £ '000	Total £ '000		
As at 01 January 2021	9	16,906	16,915		
Amounts deferred from new policies	=	17,006	17,006		
Amounts utilised	(9)	(17,117)	(17,126)		
Foreign exchange	-	(1,184)	(1,184)		
As at 31 December 2021	-	15,611	15,611		
Amounts deferred from new policies	-	18,479	18,479		
Amounts utilised	-	(16,368)	(16,368)		
Foreign exchange	-	651	651		
As at 31 December 2022		18,373	18,373		

On-risk contracts currently fall into two categories: subsidence contracts and service and maintenance plan contracts.

Subsidence Contracts

In order to manage the risks around these contracts, each individual subsidence claim is assessed for possible repudiation and total potential exposure to costs if it is not possible to repudiate the claim. Analysis is performed on a regular basis to ensure that there are adequate funds available to cover the assessed potential exposure to costs. This includes an assessment of costs to complete on a contract by contract basis. If this percentage remains below 100%, then there are sufficient funds to cover the potential future costs. In the current financial year, the percentage is below 100%. The insurance company is invoiced in advance for claims so cash is always available to meet the repair costs.

Maintenance Plans

In order to manage the risks around these contracts all vehicles are assessed in terms of make, model, age and distance driven to date

Fund burn analyses are performed periodically to ensure that there are adequate funds available to pay future expected claims. If this percentage remains below 100%, then the fund is sufficient to cover future claims. In both the current and previous financial years, the percentage is below 100%.

The Group has on-risk contracts for maintenance plans. As these plans can be priced accurately due to parts having to be replaced at specific intervals, risk due to uncertainty is mitigated to satisfactory levels.

Maintenance plans expire on the earlier of either the fixed length of the plan or the distance limit being reached.

These contracts are not reinsured as management believe it is possible to price the contracts very accurately.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

25. Provisions

Reconciliation of provisions - 2022 (£ '000)

	Opening balance	Additions	Utilised during the year	Reversed during the year	Foreign exchange	Total
Legal and Restructuring	446	124	-	-	52	622
Property leases	334	43	(44)) (79)	11	265
Contract provisions	2,721	-	(181)	(1,724)	-	816
Other provisions	259	3,148	(259) -	291	3,439
	3,760	3,315	(484	(1,803)	354	5,142

Reconciliation of provisions - 2021 (£ '000)

Legal and Restructuring Property leases Contract provisions Other provisions	Opening balance 1 354 2,486	Additions 438 - 923 255	Utilised during the year (85)	during the year - -	Foreign exchange 7 (20) - 4	Total 446 334 2,721 259
·	2,841	1,616	(85)	(603)	(9)	3,760
Non-current liabilities Current liabilities				-	2,046 3,096	593 3,167
					5,142	3,760

Legal and Restructuring

Provisions relate to restructuring performed in the year as well as provisions in relation to employment disputes and other litigation matters.

Property leases

The property lease provision relates to the onerous element of lease contracts related to certain offices vacated as a result of the restructuring of Software and Services divisions. The provision is expected to be utilised over the next two years. A provision for the restoration of a property within South Africa for £266k (2021:£255k) is expected to be utilised after five years.

Contract provisions

The contract provisions relate to the onerous element of two software implementation contracts and certain property on-risk contracts, including the prior year provision for termination settlements. The provision is expected to be utilised within the next

Other provisions

Other provisions relate to warranty claims on policies sold and is expected to be realised within three to five years.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

	2022 £ '000	2021 £ '000
26. Trade and other payables		
Current	26.083	27 240
Irade payables	26,983	27,240
Other payables	21,530	14,312
Social security and other taxes	1,954	999
Accruals	22,121	24,846
	72,588	67,397
Non-current		
Other payables	97	379

27. Commitments

Capital and financial commitments

At 31 December 2022 (2021: None) there was no capital expenditure contracted for and not provided in the Financial Statements.

Operating leases - as lessee (expense)

The Group has entered commercial leases on certain properties and items of equipment that are on a short term basis or deemed a low value asset. At the period end the Group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Future minimum lease payments payable		
Within one year	•	2
Between two and five years	-	-
After five years	-	-

28. Related parties

Related party transactions and balances

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not included in this note. Transactions between the Group and its associates are disclosed below.

Purchases from related parties

2,476 2,132 Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited

Key management

Key management are defined as the Board of Innovation Group Holdings Limited and those persons, directly or indirectly, having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, which is considered to be the Board of Directors. Information on the remuneration of the Directors is disclosed within note 5.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

29. Financial instruments and risk management

Categories of financial assets

2022				
	Note	Fair value	Amortised cost	Total
		through profit	(£ '000)	(£ '000)
		or loss		
		(000' £)		
Other debtors	16	-	1,057	1,057
Trade and other receivables	16	-	34,929	34,929
Finance lease receivables	17	-	416	416
Contract assets	16	-	27,993	27,993
Cash and cash equivalents	18	-	52,293	52,293
Non-current financial assets	14	-	11,749	11,749
		-	128,437	128,437
2021				
	Note	Fair value through profit or loss (£ '000)	Amortised cost (£ '000)	Total (£ '000)
Non-current financial assets	14	(£ 000)	7,807	7,807
Other debtors	16	_	2,884	2,884
Trade and other receivables	16	_	34,092	34,092
Contract assets	16	_	18,354	18,354
Cash and cash equivalents	18	-	64.850	64,850
Finance lease receivables		-	629	629
			128,616	128,616

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

29. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Categories of financial liabilities

2022

	Note	Fair value through profit or loss (£ '000)	Amortised cost (£ '000)	Total (£ '000)
Borrowings	22	_	205,176	205,176
Other loans	22	_	27	27
Finance lease obligations	23	-	8,348	8,348
Accruals	26	-	22,121	22,121
Trade payables	26	-	26,982	26,982
Other payables	26	-	21,627	21,627
			284,281	284,281
2021				
	Note	Fair value through profit or loss (£ '000)	Amortised cost (£ '000)	Total (£ '000)
Borrowings	22	_	181,522	181,522
Other loans	22	_	487	487
Finance lease obligations	23	-	12,300	12,300
Accruals	26	-	24,846	24,846
Trade payables	26	-	27,240	27,240
Other payables	26	-	14,312	14,312
			260,707	260,707

Objectives, Policies and Strategies

The Group's objective has been to finance acquisitions through new capital, cash reserves and borrowings. Investments in intangible fixed assets and property, plant and equipment have been made through cash and finance lease borrowings. The Group's policy towards using financial instruments is to manage credit, interest rate, liquidity and currency exposure risk without exposing the Group to undue risk or speculation. The policy is kept under review by the Directors according to the Group's foreign exchange and treasury policy.

The risks arising from the Group's operations are explained below.

Capital risk management

The Group defines its capital as the Group's total equity, including non-controlling interests. Its objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders, to provide an adequate return to investors based upon the level of risk undertaken, to have available the necessary financial resources to allow the Group to invest in areas that may deliver future benefit to investors and maintain sufficient financial resources to mitigate risks and unforeseen events.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

29. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Financial risk management

Overview

The company is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• Credit risk;

- Liquidity risk; and
- Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk).

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.

The company is exposed to credit risk on trade and other receivables, contract receivables, lease receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loan commitments and financial guarantees.

Credit risk exposure arising on cash and cash equivalents is managed by the Group through limiting investments in liquid securities with major financial institutions that satisfy specific criteria.

Credit loss allowances for expected credit losses are recognised for all debt instruments, but excluding those measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

(Registration number 11838883) Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

29. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

		2022 £ '000			2021 £ '000		
		Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Amortised cost / fair value	Gross carrying amount	Credit loss allowance	Amortised cost / fair value
Lease receivables	17	416	-	416	629	-	629
Other debtors	16	1,057	-	1,057	2,884	-	2,884
Trade and other receivables	16	37,308	(2,379)	34,929	36,962	(2,870)	34,092
Contract assets	16	27,993	•	27,993	18,354	` -	18,354
Cash and cash equivalents	18	52,293	_	52,293	64,850	_	64,850
Non-current financial assets	14	11,749	-	11,749	7,807		7,807
		130,816	(2,379)	128,437	131,486	(2,870)	128,616

Amounts are presented at amortised cost.

Fair value is substantially equivalent to book value for the Group's financial assets and liabilities, where items are short term in nature.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Liquidity risk

The company is exposed to liquidity risk, which is the risk that the company will encounter difficulties in meeting its obligations as they become due.

The Group's funds are principally held either as cash or short-term money market investments with a number of different major banking institutions. The Group has a term debt facility that is fully drawn (other than £4m for settlement of specific liabilities) and manages liquidity by maintaining available cash balances.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's liquidity reserves (comprising any undrawn borrowing facility, or unexercised committed facility increase (note 22)) and cash and cash equivalents (note 18) based on expected cash flow. The Group's liquidity management policy includes reviewing cash flows in major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets necessary to meet these, monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal key performance indicators and external covenant requirements and maintaining debt financing plans.

There have been no significant changes in the liquidity risk management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.

The maturity profile of contractual cash flows of non-derivative financial liabilities, and financial assets held to mitigate the risk, are presented in the following table. The cash flows are undiscounted contractual amounts which include interest, analysed by contractual maturity. The difference between the contractual cash flows and the carrying amount of these liabilities reflects the effects of interest not included in the carrying amount and discounting applied in assessing fair value.

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

		69.556	2.740	187.059	1.731	261.086
Borrowings	22	3,158	-			3,158
Current liabilities Trade and other payables	26	66,398	-	-	-	66,398
Trade and other payables	26	-	379	-	-	379
Non-current liabilities Borrowings	22	-	2,361	187,059	1,731	191,151
		Less than 1 year	1 to 2 years	2 to 5 years	Over 5 years	Carrying amount at 31 December 2021
2021 (£'000)					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
		74,248	2,794	208,323	774	286,138
Current liabilities Trade and other payables Borrowings		72,588 1,660	-	-	-	72,588 1,660
Non-current liabilities Borrowings		-	2,794	208,323	774	211,891
2022 (£ 000)		Less than 1 year	1 to 2 years	2 to 5 years	Over 5 years	Carrying amount at 31 December 2022
2022 (£'000)						
29. Financial instruments	and ri	sk management	(continued)			

Other contractual liabilities are included within the trade and other payables balance as disclosed in Note 26. There are no other financial liabilities within this balance.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

29. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Currency exposure arises through external debt, intra-group loans and trading balances throughout all Group locations. Natural hedging is employed, to the extent possible, to minimise riet exposures. Currency exposures comprise the monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in the functional currency of the operating unit involved. In general, all overseas operating units trade and hold assets and liabilities in their functional currency. Certain intermediate holding companies have long-term intercompany loans designated in foreign currency. As these are of a long-term nature, these are treated as quasi-equity and as such any foreign exchange arising is taken straight to reserves. Any foreign exchange incurred on trading loans is taken through the income statement. In the Company financial statements, all foreign exchange gains and losses are taken to the income statement.

The foreign currencies in which the Group deals primarily are US Dollars, Euros and South African Rand.

There have been no significant changes in the foreign currency risk management policies and processes since the prior reporting period.

Exposure in Pounds Sterling

The net carrying amounts, in Pounds, of the various exposures, are denominated in the following currencies. The amounts have been presented in Pounds by converting the foreign currency amounts at the closing rate at the reporting date:

Exchange rates

The following average exchange rates to convert results were applied:

		202)
Foreign currency per Pounds South African Rand		
South African Rand	20.190	20.526
Euro	1.171	1.166
US Dollar	1.232	1.375

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following information presents the sensitivity of the company to an increase or decrease in the respective currencies it is exposed to. The sensitivity rate is the rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated amounts and adjusts their translation at the reporting date. The sensitivity analysis of the Group's exposure for foreign currency risk at the year-end has been determined based on the assumption that the change is effective throughout the financial year and all other variables remain constant. No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period.

2022

2021

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

29. Financial instruments and risk management (continued)

	31 December 2022 £'000	31 December 2022 £'000	31 December 2021 £'000	31 December 2021 £'000
Increase or decrease in rate	Increase	Decrease	Increase	Decrease
Impact on profit or loss: US Dollar 10% (2021: 10%) Euro 10% (2021: 10%) South African Rand 10% (2021: 10%)	(352) (451) 82	352 451 82	(609) (96) 324	609 96 (324) 381
	(721)		(381)	301
Impact on equity: US Dollar 10% (2021: 10%) Euro 10% (2021: 10%) South African Rand 10% (2021: 10%)	(2,635) (1,552) 1,104	2,635 1,552 1,104	(1,760) (1,088) 1,090	1,760 1,088 (1,090)
	(3,083)	5,291	(1,758)	1,758
	(3,804)	6,176	(2,139)	2,139

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in interest rates impact on the value of investments and financing activities, giving rise to interest rate risk.

Interest bearing financial assets comprises cash. Interest bearing financial liabilities comprise shareholder loans, bank loans and net obligations under finance leases. Shareholder loans and finance leases are held at fixed rates of interest. The Group currently relies on the natural hedge of financial assets versus financial liabilities to manage the risk arising from changes to floating interest rates in the majority of cases and it is generally the policy of the Group to hold assets under floating interest rates.

The interest rate risk is for cash and cash equivalents, shareholder loans and bank loans only. All other financial assets are non-interest bearing. Interest on floating rate assets is based on the relevant national inter-bank rates, with short-term deposits being made for varying periods of between one and three months depending upon the immediate cash requirements of the Group. During the year interest rates on these assets ranged from 0.0% to 4.4% depending on the type of account and the location of the Group entity.

Interest rate profile

The interest rate profile of interest bearing financial instruments at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis has been prepared using a sensitivity rate which is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. All other variables remain constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk which were recognised at the reporting date. No changes were made to the methods and assumptions used in the preparation of the sensitivity analysis compared to the previous reporting period. A positive number indicates an increase in profit after taxation and equity (net assets).

	2022	2022	2021	2021
Increase or decrease in rate	Increase	Decrease	Increase	Decrease
Impact on profit or loss: Pound Sterling 1% (2021: 1%) South African Rand 1% (2021: 1%)	749 189	(642) (189)	(568) 148	94 (148)
Euro 1% (2021: 1%)	1,229	(294)	(1,299)	-
	2,167	(1,125)	(1,719)	(54)

(Registration number 11838883)

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Notes to the Annual Report and Financial Statements

30. Business combinations

On 12 April 2022, the company acquired the Warwick Partnership Limited ("Warwick"), a provider of loss adjusting services for a total potential cash consideration of £1,835k. Consideration of £600k was paid on completion, together with a £35k working capital adjustment. A further £600k is due on 12 April 2023 and up to £600k is payable in April 2024 dependant on the performance of the business and is subsequently recognised as contingent consideration within the financial statements.

Management have assessed the performance of the business since acquisition, in addition to forecasted financial performance, for which there is a degree of estimation uncertainty, to determine the appropriate amount of contingent consideration to be recognised as at 31 December 2022.

Transaction costs were £39k and have been expensed and included in exceptional items within administrative expenses.

The goodwill of £1,390k arising from the acquisition consists of the enhanced offering to the Group's current and future customers, adding to the Group's existing Business Services capability in the UK.

From the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022, Warwick contributed £688k revenue and £102k profit after tax to the results of the Group. If the combination had happened at the beginning of the year, assuming results are linear, the consolidated profit of the Group would have increased by £42k and revenues from continuing operations would have increased by £283k.

The fair values prescribed are considered to be final.

Net assets acquired

Property, plant and equipment Trade and other receivables Cash and cash equivalents Lease liabilities Corporation tax Trade and other payables	61 563 334 (29) (64) (420)
i otal identifiable net assets Goodwill	445 1,390
	1,835
Consideration paid (£' 000)	
Cash consideration paid on completion Cash consideration due on 12 April 2023 Contingent consideration	(635) (600) (600)
	(1,835)

31. Events after the reporting period

On 12 January 2023 the Group was acquired by Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l., the digital investments arm of the Allianz Group. As a result, the Group's existing debt was repaid in full, all security released and replaced with unsecured promissory hotes issued to Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. totalling £206.3m.

32. Ultimate parent company and controlling entity

Innovation Group Holdings Limited is ultimate parent company and the smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements.

Copies of these financial statements can be obtained from its registered office; Bembridge House, 1300 Parkway, Solent Business Park, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire, England, PO15 7AE, UK.

The Company is owned and controlled by the Group's lenders, there is no one party that controls more than 25% of the Group.

Company Financial Statements

Company Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2022

	N ote	2022 £	2021 £
Assets Non-current assets			
Investments	3	1	2
Current assets Trade and other receivables	4	18,786	78.982
Cash and cash equivalents		165,715	-
Total assets	• •	184,502	78,984
Liabilities Current liabilities			
Other payables	5	4,012,950	2
Capital and reserves Share capital and share premium	6	184,175	174,970
Accumulated loss Share reserve	7	(4.111,769) 99,146	(138,479) 42,491
Total equity and liabilities	-	184,502	78,984

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006, the Company has not presented its profit and loss account.

These financial statements on pages 83 to 90 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 September 2023 and were signed on its behalf by:

Van Staden Chief Financial Officer

Registered Company Number: 11838883

(Registration number 11838883)

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Company Financial Statements

Company Statement of Changes in Equity For the year ended 31 December 2022	Ordinary shares £	B class share premium £	Equity settled share based payments £	Accumulated losses £	Total equity £
At 01 January 2021 Result and total comprehensive loss for the year	300	- -	-	- (138,479)	300 (138,479)
Change in share capital	(225)	174,895	42,491	-	217,161
At 31 December 2021 Result and total comprehensive loss for the year Change in share capital	75 - -	174,895 - 9,205	42,491 - 56,655	(138,479) (3,973,290) -	78,982 (3,973,290) 65,860
At 31 December 2022	75	184,100	99,146	(4,111,769)	(3,828,448)
Note	6	6	7		

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these separate financial statements, which have been consistently applied in the period, are set out below. The company has adopted FRS 102 in these financial statements.

Basis of Preparation

These financial statements are prepared in compliance with United Kingdom accounting standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 - 'The Financial Reporting standard applicable in the United Kingdom and Republic of Ireland ('FRS102'), and with the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS 102 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company's accounting policies.

Exemptions for qualifying entities under FRS102

The company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions in preparing these financial statements, as permitted by FRS 102 "The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland":

- the requirements of Section 7 Statement of Cash Flows;
- the requirements of Section 11 Financial Instruments paragraphs 11.39 to 11.48A; the requirements of Section 12 Other Financial Instruments paragraphs 12.26 to 12.29;
- the requirements of Section 33 Related Party Disclosures paragraph 33.7.

Going concern

The Directors have reviewed the cash flow forecasts for the Group and the terms of its new structure. In addition, the Directors have received confirmation that Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l intends to support the Group for at least one year from the date of signing these financial statements. The Directors have therefore concluded that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern for at least 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements. As such the Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Consolidated Financial Statements

Innovation Group Holdings Limited is the ultimate parent company and the smallest and largest group to consolidate these Financial Statements.

Copies of these financial statements can be obtained from its registered office; Bembridge House, 1300 Parkway, Solent Business Park, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire, England, PO15 7AE, UK. The Company is owned and controlled by the Group's lenders, there is no one party that controls more than 25% of the Group.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Company Financial Statements

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated at cost less any provision for impairment in value. Investments in unquoted equity investments which do not have a reliable market value are stated at cost less provision for any impairment in value.

Financial instruments

The Company has chosen to adopt the recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 and disclosure requirements of sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in respect of financial instruments.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset and liability at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in the income statement.

Assets classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, the interest revenue, expected credit losses and foreign exchange gains or losses are recognized in the income statement. On de-recognition, any gain or loss is recognised in the Income Statement. The Company does not have any assets subsequently measured at fair value through other comprehensive income nor subsequently measured at fair value through profit and loss.

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The Company does not have any assets subsequently measured at fair value.

Impairment

At the end of each reporting year financial assets measured at amortised cost are assessed for objective evidence of impairment. If an asset is impaired the impairment loss is the difference between the carrying amount and the present value of the estimated cash flows discounted at the asset's original effective interest rate. The impairment loss is recognised in the income statement

If there is decrease in the impairment loss arising from an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the impairment is reversed. The reversal is such that the current carrying amount does not exceed what the carrying amount would have been had the impairment not previously been recognised. The impairment reversal is recognised in the Income Statement.

Share based payments

Goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction are recognised when the goods or as the services are received. A corresponding increase in equity is recognised if the goods or services were received in an equity-settled share-based payment transaction or a liability if the goods or services were acquired in a cash-settled share-based payment transaction.

When the goods or services received or acquired in a share-based payment transaction do not qualify for recognition as assets, they are recognised as expenses.

For equity-settled share based payment transactions the goods or services received and the corresponding increase in equity are measured, directly, at the fair value of the goods or services received provided that the fair value can be estimated reliably. If the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be estimated reliably, or if the services received are employee services, their value and the corresponding increase in equity, are measured, indirectly, by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.

Vesting conditions which are not market related (i.e. service conditions and non-market related performance conditions) are not taken into consideration when determining the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Instead, vesting conditions which are not market related shall be taken into account by adjusting the number of equity instruments included in the measurement of the transaction amount so that, ultimately, the amount recognised for goods or services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest. Market conditions, such as a target share price, are taken into account when estimating the fair value of the equity instruments granted. The number of equity instruments are not adjusted to reflect equity instruments which are not expected to vest or do not vest because the market condition is not achieved.

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Company Financial Statements

Key accounting estimates

Impairment

At the year-end, an impairment review is performed to determine whether there is an indication that the investments may be impaired. If there is such an indication the recoverable amount of the investments is estimated to be lower than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account to reduce carrying amount to its recoverable amount.

The recoverable amount of the investments is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is defined as the present value of the future cash flows before interest and tax. These cash flows are discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that represents the current market risk-free rate and the risks inherent in the asset.

If the recoverable amount of investments is estimated to be lower than the carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account unless the investments have been revalued when the amount is recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of any previously recognised revaluation. Thereafter, any excess is recognised in profit or loss.

Share based payments

For equity-settled share based payment transactions, the services received and the corresponding increase in equity is measured at the fair value of the services received if that can be estimated reliably. If the fair value of the services cannot be estimated reliably or the services received are employee services, their value and the corresponding increase in equity is measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Determining the fair value of the equity instruments granted involves judgement as these shares are not actively traded.

2. RESULT FOR THE YEAR

The Company incurred a loss of £3,973,290 during the current year (2021: Loss of £138,479).

3. INVESTMENTS

Investments comprise a £1 investment in Axios Bidco Limited (2021: £Nil) and £Nil investment in Innovation International Holdings (2021: £2). The Company held investments in subsidiary undertakings during the period. The Group transferred the investment in Axios Bidco Limited to the Company as part of its restructuring. The following table lists the entities which are controlled directly by the Company:

Company Financial Statements

Subsidiary undertakings	Principal activities	Country of incorporation	Direct /Indirect holding	% of ordinary shares held	% of ordinary shares held
Software				2022	2021
1insurer Holdings Limited (2)	Holding company	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
1insurer Limited (2)	Software services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
1insurer Australia (Proprietary) Limited (1)	Software services	Australia	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Innovation Group (Japan) (Proprietary)	Software services	Australia	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Limited (1) 1insurer Incorporated (14)	Software services	USA	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Business Services					
The Innovation Group (EMEA) Limited (2)***	Business process services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Motorcare Services Limited (2)***	Business process services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Innovation Property (UK) Limited (2)	Business process services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Innovation Group Business Services	Business process services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Limited (2)*** Innovation Fleet Services Limited (2)***	Business process services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Ingleby (1879) Limited (2)^^	Holding company	ŬŔ	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
EMaC Limited (2)***	Business process services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
TIG Acquisition Holdings (2)***	Holding company	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
The Warwick Partnership Limited (2)***	Business process services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	- %
Warwick Claims Limited (2)	Dormant company	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	- %
Warwick Consulting Loss Adjusters Limited	Dormant company	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	- %
(2) InFront Insurance PCC Limited (3)	Business process services	Guernsey	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Nobilas Iberica SL (5)	Business process services	Spain	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Pericialcar SL (5)	Business process services	Spain	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Innovation Group Poland sp.zoo (7)	Business process services	Poland	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Wintec Autoglas GmbH (8)	Business process services	Germany	Indirect	100.00 %	
Innovation Group AG (9)	Business process services	Germany	Indirect	100.00 %	
Innovation Group Fleet & Mobility GmbH	Business process services	Germany	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
(9) Innovation Group Germany GmbH (9)	Holding company	Germany	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Innovation Group Parts GmbH (11)	Holding company Business process services	Germany	Indirect	100.00 %	-
Innovation Group Services GmbH (10)	Business process services	Germany	Indirect	100.00 %	
Innovation Group Property GmbH (formerly	Business process services	Germany	Indirect	100.00 %	
Servicekoncept AG)) (13)	р				
Gateway Digital Services GmbH (9)	Business process services	Germany	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Innovation Group Switzerland GmbH (14) [^]	Dormant company	Switzerland	Indirect	50.00 %	
Innovation Group (Australia) Pty Ltd (1)	Business process services	Australia	Indirect	100.00 %	
Innovation Group (Claims Services) Pty Ltd	Business process services	Australia	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
(1) Innovation Group (Motor Consult) Pty Ltd	Business process services	Australia	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
(1) Innovation Group (Fleet) Pty Ltd (1)	Business process services	Australia	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
, , , , , ,	Holding company	USA	Indirect	100.00 %	
TIG Acquisition Co. (14) First Notice Systems Inc (14)	Business process services	USA	Indirect	100.00 %	
First Notice Inc (14)	Business process services	USA	Indirect	100.00 %	
Innovation Auto Inc (14)	Business process services	USA	Indirect	100.00 %	
Sureplan USA Inc (14)	Business process services	USA	Indirect	100.00 %	
Innovation Fleet Canada Limited (18)	Business process services	Canada	Indirect	100.00 %	
Innovation Holdings (South Africa) (Pty) Limited (15)	Holding company	South Africa	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
The Innovation Group (Pty) Limited (15)	Holding company	South Africa	Indirect	75.00 %	75.00 %
Innovation IP (Pty) Limited (15)	Business process services	South Africa		100.00 %	

Company Financial Statements

Subsidiary undertakings	Principal activities	Country of incorporation	Direct /Indirect holding	% of ordinary shares held	% of ordinary shares held
				2022	2021
Innovation Group Services (Pty) Limited (15)	Business process services	South Africa	Indirect	75.00 %	75.00 %
Innovation FSP (Pty) Limited (15)	Business process services	South Africa	Indirect	75.00 %	75.00 %
Innovation Group Namibia (Pty) Limited	Business process services	South Africa	Indirect	75.00 %	75.00 %
(15)					== 65.07
Business Process Innovation Botswana	Business process services	South Africa	Indirect	75.00 %	75.00 %
(Pty) Ltd (15) Innovation Risk Services (Pty) Ltd (15)	Business process services	South Africa	Indirect	53.00 %	53.00 %
Innovation Specialised Risk (Pty) Ltd (15)	Holding company	South Africa	Indirect	53.00 %	53.00 %
Innovation Legal (Pty) Limited (15)*	Dormant company	South Africa	Indirect	38.00 %	38.00 %
Maxicare Holdings (Pty) Limited (15)	Dormant company	South Africa	Indirect	75.00 %	75.00 %
Innovation Group Distribution (Pty) Limited	Dormant company	South Africa	Indirect	75.00 %	75.00 %
(15) Websoft (Pty) Limited (15)	Dormant company	South Africa	Indirect	75.00 %	75.00 %
Innovation ROA Limited (19)	Business process services	Mauritius	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
` ,	Business process services	Wildeliffus	mancot	100.00 70	100.00 /0
Property DIMO Computing Limited (2)***	Business process services	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
	Eddinger process services	•		.00.00 //	70.00 70
Holdings Innovation International Holdings Limited	Holding company	UK	Direct	100.00 %	100.00 %
(2) ***^^	Holding company	OIX	Direct	100.00 /6	100.00 %
Axios Bidco Limited (2)	Holding company	UK	Direct	100.00 %	100.00 %
The Innovation Group Limited (2)***	Holding company	UK	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %

Associate undertakings	Principal activities	Country of incorporation	Direct /Indirect holding	% of ordinary shares held	% of ordinary shares held
				2022	2021
Cell captive within Guardrisk Insurance Company Limited (16)**	Cell captive	South Africa	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Cell captive within Momentum Insurance Limited (19)**	Cell captive	South Africa	Indirect	100.00 %	100.00 %
Service My Car (4)**	Business process services	South Africa	Indirect	27.00 %	- %
KS Partner System GmbH (6)**	Business process services	Germany	Indirect	50.00 %	- %

^{*} The Directors have concluded that the Group exercises a dominant influence over this company as it is able to control its operating and financial decisions through its position on the Board.

** The Directors have concluded that the Group exercises significant influence over the cell captive but is unable to exercise

control.

^{***} These entities are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of financial statements under section 479a of the companies Act 2006.

^ Subsidiaries that were disposed of during the period.

^^Subsidiaries that were deregistered during the period

(Registration number 11838883)
Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Company Financial Statements

Addresses of all subsidiaries are referenced from the above table as follows:

- Level 15, 8 Exhibition Street, Melbourne, Victoria, 3000, Australia
- (1) Level 15, 8 Exhibition Street, Melbourne, Victoria, 3000, Australia
 (2) Bembridge House, 1300 Parkway, Solent Business Park, Whiteley, Fareham, Hampshire, England, PO15 7AE, UK
 (3) PO Box 33, Dorey Court, Admiral Park, St Peter Port, GY1 4AT, Guernsey
 (4) East Block, Centennial Place, Century Boulevard, Century City, 7441, Cape Town, South Africa
 (5) 10 calle de la Selva 10PB1 08820 El Prat de Llobregat, Spain
 (6) Im Hasengarten 8, D-77815, Bühl-Vimbuch, Germany
 (7) Al. Jerozolimskie 212, 02-486 Warszawa, Poland
 (8) Diezer Strasse 104, 65549 Limburg, Germany
 (9) Rotebühlstrasse 121, 70178 Stuttgart, Germany
 (10) Torgauer Strasse 231-233, 04347 Leipzig, Germany
 (11) Finsterwalder Strasse 75, 01979 Lauchhammer, Germany
 (12) Jahn Strasse 1, 71032, Böblingen, Germany
 (13) Am Wassermann 19, 50829, Köln, Germany
 (14) 1051 Perimeter Drive STE 800, Schaumburg, Illinois, 60173, USA
 (15) 155 West Street, Sandton, 2196, Johannesburg, South Africa
 (16) The Marc, Tower 2, 129 Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196, Johannesburg, South Africa
 (17) 61 Queen Street, Port Louis, Mauritius, 1712-04
 (18) 1 Concorde Gate, Suite 702, Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M3C 3N6
 (19) 268 West Avenue, Die Hoewes, 0157, Centurion, South Africa

(Registration number 11838883)

Annual Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2022

Company Financial Statements

4. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES		
	2022 £	2021 £
£'s Amounts owed by group undertakings		69,401
Amounts owed by trust Other debtors	18,411 375	9,206 375
	18,786	78,982
Amounts owed by group undertakings are interest free, unsecured and repayable on demand.		
5. OTHER PAYABLES	2022 £	2021 £
£'s Amounts owed to group undertakings	3,007,248	2
Accruals Other payables	1,004,129 1,573	-
	4,012,950	2

6. SHARE CAPITAL

Refer to note 19 of the Group Financial Statements for the details of the Company's share capital.

7. SHARE RESERVE

During the year the Company established a trust to hold shares on behalf of 16 of its employees. Further details are provided in note 21 of the Group Financial Statements.

8. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company is exempt from disclosing related party transactions with companies that are wholly owned within the Group.

9. STATUTORY AND OTHER INFORMATION

There are no employees of the Company. Details of Directors' remuneration is set out in note 5 of the Group Financial Statements. The fees in connection with the audit of the Company were paid and borne by a subsidiary undertaking, without recharge and were part of the fee for the consolidated financial statements as set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements. Fees paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP for non-audit services to the Company are not disclosed in the individual financial statements of the Company because Group financial statements are prepared which are required to disclose such fees on a consolidated basis, see note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

10. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 12 January 2023 the Group was acquired by Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l., the digital investments arm of the Allianz Group. As a result, the Group's existing debt was repaid in full, all security released and replaced with unsecured promissory notes issued to Allianz Strategic Investments S.a.r.l. totalling £206.3m.